
RNS Number : 9884E
Everyman Media Group PLC
15 April 2025
 

15 Apri l  2025
 

Everyman Media Group PLC
("Everyman" the "Company" or the "Group")

 
Preliminary Results to 02 January 2025

 
Everyman Media Group plc (AIM: EMAN) today announces  i ts  audited financial  results  for the year ended 02 January 2025.
 
Highlights
 
Robust performance across key metrics despite heavily interrupted film slate

·     Admiss ions  of 4.3m (2023: 3.75m), up 15.0%
·     Group revenue of £107.2m (2023: £90.9m), up 17.9%
·     Adjusted EBITDA of £16.2m (2023: £16.2m), flat year on year*
·     Food and Beverage Spend Per Head of £10.64 (2023: £10.29), up 3.4%
·     Paid for Average Ticket Price of £11.98 (2023: £11.65), up 2.8%
·     Market share increased to 5.4% (2023: 4.8%), up 12.5%
·     Cash and cash equivalents  of £9.9m at year end (2023: £6.6m) and net banking debt reduced to

£18.1m (2023: £19.4m), in l ine with the Group's  strategy to reduce leverage.

Operational and strategic progress

·     Three organic openings  during the year, including a  three-screen venue in Bury St Edmunds, a  five-
screen venue in Cambridge and a three-screen venue in Stratford International .

·     The Group's  Membership base grew by 65% over the year, driving an increase in guest frequency
and engagement with the brand.

·     Innovation of the Food & Beverage offer continued, with new drinks  and sharing dishes
contributing to the year-on-year increase in Spend per Head. 

Outlook

·     Positive momentum in Q1 2025, with trading driven by Bridget Jones: Mad about the Boy.
·     Measured expansion continues, with a  new venue in Brentford opened in March 2025 and The

Whiteley (Bayswater) to fol low in Q3 2025.
·     The Group expects  to further reduce leverage over the coming year, whi le maintaining i ts

expansion.
·     Having experienced s igni ficant disruption in 2024 aris ing from a lack of content due to the WGA

and SAG-AFTRA strikes , management expects  a  much improved and cons istently-phased fi lm
slate in 2025 and beyond.

·     Key ti tles  over the period include Miss ion Imposs ible: The Final  Reckoning, Li lo & Sti tch, F1,
Superman, Downton Abbey 3, Wicked: For Good, and Avatar: Fi re and Ash.

Alex Scrimgeour, Chief Executive Officer of Everyman Media Group PLC said:
 
"Despite a heavily disrupted film slate in the first half of the year, we delivered strong growth across all key revenue genera�ng
metrics in 2024, with admissions, average spend and market share all up year-on-year. O ur dis�nc�ve blend of film and
hospitality con�nues to resonate with audiences and with a rapidly expanding membership base, it is clear that guests con�nue
to choose Everyman.
 
O ur measured approach to expansion remains a priority, with two exci�ng new venues opening in 2025 and several further
opportuni�es in the pipeline. W ith the impact of recent industry strikes now behind us, we are confident of strong performance
in 2025 underpinned by a well-balanced, consistently-phased film slate."
 

*GAAP measures: Operating loss pre non-cash impairment charges of £0.7m (2023: £0.7m profit), driven by depreciation
charges from new openings. Including impairment charges, operating loss was £3.4m (2023: £0.1m).

 
 
For further information, please contact:
 
Everyman Media Group plc Tel: 020 3145 0500
Alex Scrimgeour, Chief Executive
Wil l  Worsdel l , Finance Director
 
Canaccord Genuity Limited (NOMAD and Broker) Tel: 020 7523 8000
Bobbie Hi l l iam
Harry Pardoe

Alma (Financial PR Advisor) Tel: 020 3405 0205
Rebecca Sanders-Hewett everyman@almastrategic.com
Joe Pederzol l i
Emma Thompson
 
About Everyman Media Group PLC:
 
Everyman is  the fourth largest cinema bus iness  in the UK  by number of venues, and is  a  premium, high growth leisure
brand. Everyman operates  a  growing estate of venues  across  the UK , with an emphasis  on providing first class  cinema and
hospital i ty.
 
Everyman is  redefining cinema. It focuses  on venue and experience as  key competitive strengths, with a  unique proposition:
 

·     Intimate and atmospheric venues, which become a destination in their own right
·     An emphasis  on a strong qual i ty food and drink menu prepared in-house
·     A broad range of wel l -curated programming content, from mainstream and independent fi lms to



·     A broad range of wel l -curated programming content, from mainstream and independent fi lms to
theatre and l ive concert streams, appeal ing to a  diverse range of audiences

·     Motivated and welcoming teams
 
For more information vis i t http://investors .everymancinema.com/

 
Chairman's Statement
 
Review of the Year
 
I  am pleased to report another year of operaJonal  and strategic progress . Admiss ions  rose to 4.3 mi l l ion, a  15.0% increase
on last year (2023: 3.7 mi l l ion). Average Jcket price cl imbed to £11.98, a  2.8% rise on last year (2023: £11.65), whi le Food
& Beverage Spend per Head increased to £10.64, up 3.4% on last year (2023: £10.29). Most encouragingly, our market share
grew to 5.4%, a  12.5% increase on last year (2023: 4.8%).
 
2024 was not without chal lenges. The Screen Actors  Gui ld-American FederaJon of Televis ion and Radio ArJsts  ("SAG-
AF TR A") and Writers  Gui ld of America ("WGA") strikes  of 2023 resulted in a  disappoinJng number of releases  in the second
quarter.
 
I n the fourth quarter we faced a number of other chal lenges. Most notable was  the fa i lure of Joker: Folie a Deux to exci te
cinemagoers  in O ctober, reaching just £10.3m at the UK  Box O ffice in comparison to 2019's  Joker, which grossed over
£58.0m. W hi lst trading in November and December was very strong in absolute terms, congesJon in the film s late
prevented major releases  from reaching their ful l  box office potentia l .
 
We are mindful  of the ongoing cost chal lenges  facing the broader hospital i ty sector and conJnue to ensure that our cost
base is  efficient.
 
During 2024 we opened three new venues, in Bury St Edmunds, Cambridge and Stratford International . As  ever, each of these
venues highl ight the outstanding qual i ty and unique aesthetic that has  become associated with Everyman.
 
I would l ike to extend my thanks  to our venue and Head Office teams, who performed outstandingly in 2024.
 
Outlook
 
Despite the chal lenges  aris ing from the announcement of increases  to NaJonal  Living Wage and the lowering of NaJonal
I nsurance thresholds  in November's  Autumn Statement, we look to 2025 with confidence. W ith the impact of the SAG-AF TR A
and WGA strikes  firmly behind us , we look forward to a  robust l ineup of releases  distributed more evenly throughout the
year.
 
We conJnue with our programme of measured organic expansion. New venues include BrenMord and The W hiteley
(Bayswater), a  landmark re-development of the historic West End shopping centre. Notwithstanding the broader consumer
environment, we are opJmisJc about the year ahead. We remain mindful  of net debt and further reducing leverage over the
next two years .
 

 

 

Phi l ip Jacobson                                                                                                                                    
Non-Executive Chairman

14 Apri l  2025

 

 

 
Chief Executive's Statement
 
Business Model and Growth Strategy
 
The Everyman brand is  pos iJoned as  a  premium offering within the UK  leisure market. The Group's  venues  are
predominantly located in vibrant town-centres , and des igned to provide a welcoming, high-qual i ty environment.
Everyman's  core focus  is  on del ivering excepJonal  hospital i ty, which is  reflected in i ts  venues, food and beverage opJons,
staff, and fi lm programming.
 
The Group conJnues to see s ignificant long-term growth potenJal  across  the UK . Measured expansion remains  a  focus,
with new s i te openings  and selecJve acquis iJon opportuniJes  under evaluaJon. Everyman is  commiPed to conJnual ly
enhancing the customer experience, in-venue service, film curaJon and invesJng in the development of i ts  food and
beverage range. Targeted markeJng supports  these efforts , helping to bui ld brand awareness  and drive sustained revenue
growth.
 
Financial Overview
 
Despite a  heavi ly interrupted film s late due in the main to the impact of the WGA and SAG-AF TR A strikes , we saw strong
growth in a l l  key revenue generaJng metrics  in 2024. Admiss ions  increased to 4.3m, a  15.0% increase on last year (2023:
3.7m). Average Ticket P rice increased to £11.98, a  2.8% increase on last year (2023: £11.65) and Food & Beverage Spend per
Head increased to £10.64, a  3.4% increase on last year (2023: £10.29). More pleas ing sJl l , our Market Share increased to
5.4%, a  12.5% increase on last year (2023: 4.8%).
 
We faced some s ignificant cost headwinds  in 2024, the most notable being a  £1.5m increase in People costs , directly
aPributable to the NaJonal  Living Wage. AddiJonal ly, having rol led off a favourable long-term contract, we faced a £1.2m
increase in the cost of our UJl iJes. Despite these headwinds  and chal lenges  associated with the 2024 film s late, Adjusted
EBITDA was in l ine with the prior year at £16.2m (2023: £16.2m).
 
The Group's  operaJng loss  increased to £3.4m (2023: £0.1m) mainly as  a  result of addiJonal  depreciaJon charges  on the



The Group's  operaJng loss  increased to £3.4m (2023: £0.1m) mainly as  a  result of addiJonal  depreciaJon charges  on the
expanded estate and an impairment charge of £2.6m (2023: £0.7m). The loss  before tax increased to £10.2m (2023: £5.5m)
due to addiJonal  interest charges  on lease l iabi l iJes  relaJng to the increased number of venues. These metrics  are
explored in more detai l  in the Finance Director's  Statement.
 
We conJnued our programme of measured organic expansion, opening three new venues in Bury St Edmunds, Cambridge
and StraMord I nternaJonal . As  such, the cash flow statement for the year includes  £15.4m on the acquis iJon of P roperty,
P lant & Equipment (2023: £18.6m). This  amount a lso includes  work in progress  on our venues  in BrenMord and The
Whiteley (Bayswater), which both open in 2025.
 
The Group has  been able to finance the majori ty of i ts  expansion through £21.6m of operaJng cash flow (2023: £17.9m)
and received lease incenJves  of £5.7m (2022: £4.1m) in the form of landlord contribuJons to venue fit out costs . This
i l lustrates  the ongoing appeal  to have Everyman as  an anchor leisure tenant.
 
We were pleased to reduce net banking debt to £18.1m (2022: £19.4m). W ith capital  expenditure on new openings
excluded, the Group would have generated s igni ficant free cash flow.
 
Everyman conJnues to see the property acquis iJon landscape as  highly favourable, with the majori ty of transacJons
aPracJng s ignificant lease incenJves  and generaJng strong investment returns. The Board conJnues to be mindful  of
making the most of these aPracJve market condiJons whi lst maintaining sens ible levels  of banking debt and reducing
leverage. As  a  result, fol lowing the opening of a  new venue in BrenMord in March, the Board expects  to open one further
venue in 2025, at The W hiteley in Bayswater. Two further venues  are expected to open in 2026, plus  our ful ly fiPed-out
venue in Durham, pending completion of the wider Mi lburngate scheme.
 
The Directors  cons ider that the Group balance sheet remains  robust, with sufficient working capital  to service ongoing
requirements  and to support our growth going forward.
KPIs
 
The Group uses  the fol lowing key performance indicators , in addition to total  revenues, to monitor the progress  of the
Group's  activi ties :
 

            Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December
2025

(53 weeks)
2023

(52 weeks)

 
Admiss ions 4,312,708 3,749,120

Paid for average ticket price £11.98 £11.65

Food and beverage spend per head £10.64 £10.29
 
New Venues
 
During 2024 the Group opened three new venues: a  three-screen venue in Bury St Edmunds in February 2024, a  five-screen
venue in Cambridge in November 2024 and a three-screen venue in StraMord I nternaJonal  in December 2024. Management
is  confident that they wi l l  create s ignificant value moving forward, with new venues typical ly taking four years  to reach ful l
maturi ty.
 
I n 2025, the Group plans  to open venues at The W hiteley (Bayswater) and BrenMord. Beyond 2025, other venues  are in
advanced stages  of negoJaJon; however, the Board remains  mindful  of measured expansion funded mainly through free
cash flow.
 
O ur ful ly fiPed out venue in Durham is  ready to open, pending pracJcal  compleJon of the wider Mi lburngate scheme. O ur
current expectation is  that the venue wi l l  open in Q4 2026.
 
At the end of the year, the Group operated 47 venues with 163 screens:
 

Location
Number of

Screens
Number of

Seats
Altrincham 4 247
Bath 4 229
Birmingham 3 328
Bristol 4 476
Bury St.Edmunds 3 228
Cambridge 5 321
Cardi ff 5 253
Chelmsford 6 411
Cheltenham 5 369
Cl i theroe 4 255
Edinburgh 5 407
Egham 4 275
Esher 4 336
Gerrards  Cross 3 257
Glasgow 3 201
Harrogate 5 410
Horsham 3 239
Leeds 5 611
Lincoln 4 291
Liverpool 4 288
London, 14 venues 40 3,383
Manchester 3 247
Marlow 2 161
Newcastle 4 215
Northal lerton 4 274
Oxted 3 212
Plymouth 3 190
Reigate 2 170
Sal isbury 4 311
Stratford-Upon-Avon 4 384
Walton-On-Thames 2 158



Walton-On-Thames 2 158
Winchester 2 236
Wokingham 3 289
York 4 329

163 12,991
 
The Market
 
The SAG-AF TR A and WGA strikes , which ran from May to November 2023, resulted in delays  to both the producJon and
promoJon of certain Jtles . The disrupJon was most pronounced in the second quarter of 2024 which, fol lowing the delay
of Deadpool & Wolverine from May to July, saw few major releases  of parJcular note. As  a  direct result of the strikes , 2024
was the poorest performing second quarter s ince 2008, with the UK Box Office 25% down on 2022 and 16% down on 2023.
 
I n O ctober we saw the criJcal  and commercial  disappointment of Joker: Folie a Deux, which grossed just £10.3m at the UK
Box O ffice. This  was  a  drop of over 80% on the original  Joker, which reached over £58m in 2019. The fa i lure of the film to
connect with audiences  resulted in a  dry October s late and a di fficult s tart to the fourth quarter.
 
There were, however, a  number of highl ights  to the 2024 film s late. We started the year with a  strong awards  season, with
Jtles  such as  Poor Things, The Holdovers and A ll O f Us Strangers playing parJcularly wel l  to the Everyman audience. Dune:
Part II capJvated our guests  during March and Deadpool & Wolverine was  the summer's  major release, gross ing £58m in
the UK.
 
November saw the major blockbusters  Paddington in Peru, Gladiator II, Wicked and Moana 2 release in consecuJve weeks.
W hi lst each Jtle del ivered in excess  of £30m at the UK  Box O ffice, the compressed nature of their release dates  prevented
the fi lms from reaching their ful l  box office potentia l .
 
The Group was pleased that market share for the year was  5.4%, up from 4.8% in 2023. Pos iJve momentum in market share
has  continued into the new year.
 
Key Business Developments
 
We grew our Membership base during the period, reaching 56,486 members  by the end of the year (2023: 34,151), an
increase of over 65%. Focus  groups conducted during 2023 underscored the potenJal  value of expanding our membership
base; as  a  result, we introduced a new strategy that included on-screen, out-of-home, and digi ta l  adverJs ing, and the
introducJon of Jcket bundles  (which al low members  to extend the number of vis i ts  within their exisJng membership term).
W hi le Membership remains  an important driver of brand advocacy, i ts  primary benefit is  increased guest frequency, which
supports  higher admiss ions  and, consequently, contributes  to incremental  Revenue and EBITDA.
 
I n September we launched our new App, which del ivered improvements  in funcJonal i ty and user experience, as  wel l  as
adding Android to exisJng i O S compaJbi l i ty for the first Jme. The new App also gives  users  the abi l i ty to purchase
Memberships  and GiS Cards, as  wel l  as  including addiJonal  features  such as  favouri te venues  and watchl ists . S ince
launch we have seen a 52% increase in downloads  and a 22% increase in sess ions, as  wel l  as  a  37% increase in
transactions  completed.
 
O ur Food & Beverage offer conJnues to go from strength to strength. During the year we added new sharing dishes  such as
Serrano Ham and Cheese Croquetas , Achiote Chicken Skewers  and Honey and Mustard Sausages, as  wel l  as  a  new Korean
Fried Chicken Burger, F ig & P rosciuPo P izza and a Baked Camembert. New drinks  included Rum P unch, Raspberry Moji to
and Watermelon and Elderflower Coolers . We also completed the successful  rol l  out of at-seat Q R codes  which give guests
the abi l i ty to order Food & Beverage from mobi le devices . This  feature has  s igni ficantly increased repeat orders , with 18.3%
of orders  placed through this  process  being second orders  before the film starts . This  i s  one of the key contribuJng factors
to the year-on-year increase in Food & Beverage Spend per Head.
 
O ur Food and Beverage is  highly complementary and enhances  the Everyman proposiJon. We expect that conJnued
innovation wi l l  continue to drive increases  in spend per head going forward.
 
People
 
Everyman would not be the bus iness  that i t i s  without our excepJonal  and dedicated venue and Head O ffice teams. We are
consistently focused on training iniJaJves  in order to del iver our unique brand of hospital i ty and excepJonal  guest
experiences. I n 2024, we made improvements  to our digi ta l  tra ining plaMorm, launched our K i tchen ApprenJceship
programme and establ ished an operational  tra ining team.
 
We opened three venues in 2024 and warmly welcome our latest team members  who are del ivering the Everyman
experience in these new locaJons. We also extend our thanks  to our experienced teams, who have expertly tra ined our new
people.
 
We are del ighted that so many people are choosing to start and develop their careers  at Everyman, and internal
progress ion remains  a  s igni ficant focus  for us .
 
Outlook
 
Despite what has  been a chal lenging year, we remain exci ted about the future of Everyman. W ith our Membership base
increas ing at an accelerated pace and our market share conJnuing to improve, i t remains  evident that the Everyman model
has  become the most relevant form of cinema.
 
We conJnue our programme of prudent expansion. The deal  landscape remains  favourable and landlords  conJnue to seek
out Everyman as  a  high qual i ty, premium leisure tenant. I n 2025 we wi l l  open two new venues, and a further three in 2026,
with several  further exciJng opportuniJes  in the pipel ine. We conJnue to focus  on control l ing net debt and reducing
leverage, with the majori ty of organic expansion financed through free cash flow.
 
We look forward to a  wel l -rounded and more cons istently-phased film s late in 2025, with disrupJon from the SAG-AF TR A
and WGA strikes  now concluded. Bridget Jones: Mad A bout the Boy has  del ivered an encouraging start to the year, and
further key Jtles  include Mission Impossible: The F inal Reckoning and Lilo & S�tch in May, F1 in June, Superman in July,
Downton Abbey 3 in September, Wicked: Part 2 in November and Avatar: Fire and Ash in December.
 
 
 
 
 

Alex Scrimgeour                                 
CEO

14 Apri l  2025
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Strategic Report

The Directors  present their strategic report for the Group for the year ended 02 January 2025 (comparative period: 52 weeks
28 December 2023).
 
Review of the business
               
The Group made a loss  after tax of £8.5m (2023: £2.7m). Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA was £16.2m (2023: £16.2m).
 
The Finance Director's  Statement contains  a  detai led financial  review. Further detai ls  are a lso shown in the Chief
ExecuJve's  Statement and consol idated statement of profit and loss  and other comprehensive income, together with the
notes  to the financial  s tatements .

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board cons iders  risk assessment to be important in achieving i ts  strategic objectives . There is  a  process  of evaluation
of performance targets  through regular reviews by senior management to forecasts . Project mi lestones  and timel ines  are
reviewed regularly.
 
  1
 

Film release schedule - The level  of the Group's  box office revenues fluctuates  throughout the course of
any given year and are largely dependent on the Jming of film releases, over which the Group has  no
control . The film s late in 2024 was impacted by the 2023 WGA and SAG-AF TR A strikes , notably resulJng
in a  shortage of content in the second quarter of the year. The Group miJgates  variable box office
revenue through high-qual i ty programming, widening the sources  for new content and creaJng other
strands  such as  Throwbacks and Everyman Beyond, which showcase older and independent Jtles . The
Group also focuses  on creaJng a great overal l  experience at venues, independent from the films
themselves.
 

2 Consumer environment - A reducJon in consumer spending because of broader economic factors  could
impact the Group's  revenues. Higher interest rates  have sustained during 2024, puTng pressure on
disposable incomes, a l though the Board cons iders  that the impact on the Group has  been minimal .
Historical ly, the cinema industry has  been res i l ient to difficult macroeconomic condiJons, with i t
remaining an affordable treat during such Jmes for most consumers. The Group conJnues to monitor
long term trends and the broader leisure market.

 
3

Alterna>ve media channels - The prol i feraJon of a l ternaJve media channels , including streaming, has
introduced new compeJJve forces  for the film-going audience, which was accelerated by the pandemic.
To date this  has  proven to be a vi rtuous relaJonship, both increas ing the investment in film producJon
and further fuel l ing an overal l  interest in film with customers  of a l l  ages. The Board cons iders  that the
Everyman bus iness  model  works  wel l  a longs ide other film channels . I t remains  an ever-present cauJon
that to maintain this  pos iJon we must conJnue to del iver an excepJonal  experience to del iver real
added value for our customers.
 

4
 
 
 

Inflation - There is  a  risk to the cost base from inflaJon, given the current economic and geopol iJcal
environment. To miJgate this , the Group enters  into long-term contracts  and works  very closely with
suppl iers  to improve efficiencies  and l imit costs . I n addiJon, and thanks  to i ts  s ize, the Group can take
advantage of lower price points  for higher volumes, and payrol l  costs  are closely monitored and
managed to the level  of admiss ions.
 

 5 Climate change - The Group's  bus iness  could suffer because of extreme or unseasonal  weather
condiJons. C inema admiss ions  are affected by periods  of abnormal , severe, or unseasonal  weather
condiJons, such as  excepJonal ly hot weather or heavy snowfal l . C l imate change is  a lso high on the
agenda for investors  and increas ingly insJtuJonal  investors  are looking closely at the acJons being
taken by bus iness  to reduce carbon emiss ions. The Group is  working towards  developing a  net zero
carbon emiss ions  strategy to miJgate this  risk. The Group is  compl iant with cl imate-related financial
disclosure requirements  under the Companies  (Strategic Report) (C l imate-Related Financial  D isclosure)
RegulaJons 2022 ("C R F D"), which are a l igned to the Taskforce on C l imate-Related Financial  D isclosures
framework ("TCFD").
 

6 Data and cyber security - The poss ibi l i ty of data breaches  and system aPacks  would have a materia l
impact on the Group through potenJal ly exposing the bus iness  to a  reducJon in service avai labi l i ty for
customers, potenJal ly s ignificant levels  of fines, and reputaJonal  damage. To miJgate this  risk, the I T
infrastructure is  upgraded to ensure that the latest securi ty patches  are in place and that ongoing
securi ty processes  are regularly updated. This  i s  supported by regular pen testing and back-ups.
 

  7
 

Film piracy - Fi lm piracy, a ided by technological  advances, continues  to be a real  threat to the cinema
industry general ly. Any theft within our venues  may result in distributors  withholding content to the
business . Everyman's  typical ly smal ler, more intimate auditoria, with much higher occupancy levels
than the industry average, make our venues  less  appeal ing to fi lm thieves.
 

  8
 

Reputation - The strong pos iJve reputaJon of the Everyman brand is  a  key benefit, helping to ensure the
successful  future performance and growth which also serves  to miJgate many of the risks  idenJfied
above. The Group focuses  on customer experience and monitors  feedback from many di fferent sources. A
culture of partnership and respect for customers  and our suppl iers  i s  fostered within the bus iness  at a l l
levels . We continue to see our market share increase and receive extremely pos itive customer feedback.
 

 
Financial risks
 
The Group has  direct exposure to interest rate movements  in relation to interest charges  on bank borrowings, with a  1%
increase in rates  resulting in an increase in interest charges  of £0.3m on current forecast borrowings  over the next twelve
months. The Board manages  this  risk by minimis ing bank borrowings  and reviewing forecast borrowing pos itions.
 
The Group takes  out suitable insurance against property and operational  risks  where cons idered materia l  to the
anticipated revenue of the Group.

 
Finance Director's Statement



Finance Director's Statement

Summary

·      Group revenue of £107.2m (2023: £90.9m)
·      Gross  profi t of £69.1m (2023: £58.1m)
·      Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA of £16.2m (2023: £16.2m)
·      Operating loss  of £3.4m (2023: £0.1m loss)
·      Operating loss  excluding impairment charges  of £0.7m (2023: £0.7m profi t) 
·      Net banking debt £18.1m (2023: £19.4m)

 
Revenue and Operating Profit
 
Admiss ions  for the 53 weeks  ending 02 January 2025 were 4.3m, an increase of 15.0% on the prior year (2023: 3.7m). The
upl iS was driven by three organic new openings  during the year (Bury St Edmunds, Cambridge and StraMord I nternaJonal)
as  wel l  as  the ful l  year impact of prior year openings  (Marlow, Sal isbury, Northal lerton, Plymouth, Bath and Cheltenham).
 
The Group notes  that the second quarter of the year was  adversely impacted by the 2023 SAG-AFTRA and WGA strikes , which
resulted in delays  to the film s late and a shortage of content. The Group also notes  the poor performance of Joker: Folie a
Deux, which achieved £10.3m at the UK Box Office in contrast to the fi rst Joker fi lm's  £58.3m in 2019.
 
Paid-for Average Ticket P rice was  £11.98, a  2.8% increase vs . the prior year (2023: £11.65) and Food & Beverage Spend per
Head was £10.64, a  3.4% increase vs . the prior year (2023: £10.29). The Group has  remained conservaJve with pass ing on
price increases  to guests  in 2024, and was therefore pleased to see growth in these two metrics .
 
We also saw a strong revenue benefit from growth in our Membership base which, as  detai led in the Chief ExecuJve's
Statement, grew by 65% to over 56,000 at the end of the year (2023: 34,000).
 
As  a  result of the above, revenue for the period was £107.2m, a  17.9% increase on the prior year (2023: £90.9m).
 
The Group is  pleased to report that Gross  Margin increased to 64.4% (2023: 64.0%). This  was  mainly as  a  result of
conJnued strong cost control  by our F i lm and P rocurement teams, but a lso as  a  result of the aforemenJoned growth in
Membership, which is  a  high margin income stream.
 
Other operating income was £0.5m (2023: £0.6m) and related entirely to landlord compensation.
 
AdministraJve Expenses  for the period were £72.9m (2023: £58.8m). This  was  driven in the main by increased admiss ions,
as  wel l  as  the impact of new venue openings  and associated fixed asset depreciation.
 
The Group saw cost inflaJon in two key areas, both of which were substanJal ly outs ide of management control . People
Costs  are inherently l inked to increases  in NaJonal  Living Wage, which increased by 9.8% in Apri l  2024, driving a  £1.5m
increase in cost across  both hourly-paid and salaried employees. I n addiJon, the Group's  previous  fixed-rate UJl iJes
contracts  came to an end in O ctober 2023. W hi lst lower than iniJal  management expectaJons, higher global  electrici ty
rates  drove a £1.2m cost increase in 2024. The Group anticipates  that Uti l i ties  costs  wi l l  fa l l  during 2025.
 
The Board carried out an impairment review at the year end, based on a judgement of future cash flows from venues
considered to have indicators  of impairment. As  a  result of this , AdministraJve Expenses  includes  an impairment charge of
£2.6m (2023: £0.7m). This  i s  based on the Board's  assessment that, at the Balance Sheet date, the present value of future
cash flows was less  than the carrying amount of the Right-of-Use Asset and P roperty, P lant and Equipment. The Board
anJcipates  that the UK  Box O ffice wi l l  conJnue to improve during 2025 and 2026 and wi l l  closely monitor the impact of
this  on any venues with carried forward impairment to Right-of-Use Assets  and P roperty, P lant and Equipment, in the event
that any charges  previous ly incurred can be reversed.
 
W ith impairment charges  excluded, the operaJng loss  for the year was  £0.7m (2023: £0.7m profit). W ith Adjusted EB I TDA
consistent year-on-year, the decrease is  substantia l ly due to higher depreciation charges  relating to the expanded estate.
 
Finance Expense
 
Financial  expenses  were £6.9m (2023: £5.4m) and relate mainly to interest charges  on the Group's  banking faci l iJes  and
on lease l iabi l iJes. £1.0m of the increase relates  to the impact of new leases  entered into during the year, and £0.4m
relates  to an increased draw down on the Group's  Revolving Credit Faci l i ty and higher underlying interest rates .
 
Taxation
 
The Group's  loss  for the year includes  a  £1.7m credit (2023: £2.8m credit) relaJng to the recogniJon of a  Deferred Tax
Asset. The Group has  consulted the F RC's  themaJc review of Deferred Tax Assets  publ ished in September 2022 and
concluded that an asset should be recognised on the bas is  of a  sufficient level  of probable future taxable profi ts .
 
The Group conJnues to recognise the Deferred Tax Asset due to increased certainty over future trading performance as  we
emerge further from the pandemic, and fol lowing the conclus ion of the WGA and SAG-AF TR A strikes , which no longer pose
the threat of long-term disruption to the fi lm s late.
 
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA
I n addiJon to performance measures  directly observable in the financial  s tatements , the fol lowing addiJonal  performance
measures  are used internal ly by management to assess  performance:
 

·       Non-GAAP Adjusted EBITDA
·       Admiss ions
·       Paid-for Average Ticket Price
·       Food & Beverage Spend per Head

 
Management bel ieves  that these measures  provide useful  informaJon to evaluate performance of the bus iness  as  wel l  as
individual  venues, to analyse trends  in cash-based operaJng expenses, and to establ ish operaJonal  goals  and al locate
resources.
 
Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA was £16.2m (2023: £16.2m).
 
Non-GAAP  adjusted EB I TDA is  defined as  earnings  before interest, taxes, depreciaJon, amorJsaJon, profit or loss  on
disposal  of Property, Plant & Equipment, impairment, share based payments , pre-opening expenses  and exceptional  costs .
 



 
The reconci l iaJon between operaJng (loss) / profit and non-GAAP  adjusted EB I TDA is  shown at the end of the consol idated
statement of profi t and loss  and other comprehensive income.
 
Cash Flows
 
The Directors  bel ieve that the Balance Sheet remains  wel l  capital ised, with sufficient working capital  to service ongoing
requirements . Net cash generated in operaJng acJviJes  was  £21.6m (2023: £17.9m) with a  net cash inflow for the year of
£3.2m (2023: £2.9m).
 
O peraJng Cash Flow included a working capital  ouMlow of £9.0m (2023: £2.4m) relaJng to an increase in Trade and O ther
Payables . This  amount arose mainly due to the very high levels  of trading during November and December 2024 and
associated timing di fferences  for payments  relating to Costs  of Sales  and Administrative Expenses.
 
Cash flow used in invesJng acJviJes  was  £16.1m (2023: £14.2m). This  related mainly to payments  for new venues in Bury
St Edmunds, Cambridge and StraMord I nternaJonal , as  wel l  as  work in progress  on new venues in BrenMord and at The
Whiteley (Bayswater).

The Group financed the majori ty of i ts  expansion from operaJng cash flow. The remainder was  financed via  £5.7m
landlord contributions  (2023: £4.1m) and a net £2m draw on the Group's  Revolving Credit Faci l i ty (2023: £4m).

The Group ended the year with cash and cash equivalents  of £9.9m (2023: £6.6m) and net banking debt of £18.1m (2023:
£19.4m). The Group therefore reduced net debt and leverage during the year. W ith fewer new openings  planned during 2025
and 2026, the Group currently anticipates  that leverage wi l l  fa l l  further over the next two years .

Pre-opening costs

P re-opening costs , which have been expensed within administraJve expenses, were £0.9m (2023: £0.9m). These costs
include expenses  which are necessari ly incurred in the period prior to a  new venue being opened but which are specific to
the opening of that venue. 
 
Exceptional costs
 
The Group incurred excepJonal  costs  of £0.3m during the year (2023: £0.5m), which related in the main to I T restructuring
costs , as  wel l  as  abortive recruitment costs  relating to certain Head Office teams.
 
Banking
 
The Group retains  i ts  £35m three-year loan faci l i ty with Barclays  Bank P lc and NaJonal  Westminster Bank P lc, which was
agreed on 17th August 2023. The faci l i ty i s  extendable by a  further two years  subject to lender consent, and ensures  that the
Group is  soundly financial ly structured and wel l  pos iJoned to take advantage of opportuniJes  moving forwards. The
faci l i ty a lso includes  an additional  £5m accordion element, again subject to lender consent.
 
Covenants  on the loan faci l i ty are based on Adjusted Leverage and Fixed Charge Cover. The Group's  current forecasts
demonstrate that the Group wi l l  remain within these covenants  for the foreseeable future.
 
At the end of the year the Group had drawn down £28m (2023: £26m) of the avai lable funds  under the new faci l i ty, and
therefore £7m of the £35m faci l i ty was  undrawn (2023: £9m undrawn).
 
Annual General Meeting
 
The Annual  General  MeeJng of the Company wi l l  be held on 19 June 2025 at 9:30am at Everyman Cinema Hampstead, 5
Hol ly Bush Vale, London NW3 6TX.
 
 
 
Consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 02 January 2025
 

Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Note £000 £000

Revenue 6 107,173 90,859

Cost of sales (38,106) (32,724)

Gross  profi t 69,067 58,135

Other Operating Income 11 506 647

Administrative expenses (72,935) (58,834)

Operating (loss) (3,362) (52)

Financial  expenses 12 (6,855) (5,449)

Loss before tax  (10,217) (5,501)

Tax credit 13 1,682 2,805

Loss for the year  (8,535) (2,696)
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Loss for the year  (8,535) (2,696)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (8,535) (2,696)

Bas ic loss  per share (pence) 14 (9.36) (2.96)

Di luted loss  per share (pence) 14 (9.36) (2.96)

Al l  amounts  relate to continuing activi ties .

 
 
 
 
 
 

Non-GAAP measure: adjusted EBITDA Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Adjusted EBITDA 16,170 16,180

Before:

Depreciation and amortisation 15/16/17 (14,867) (13,152)

Loss  on disposal  of Property, Plant & Equipment (241) (121)

Impairment 18 (2,626) (724)

Pre-opening expenses* (888) (934)

Exceptional** (316) (481)

Share-based payment expense 29 (594) (820)

Operating loss (3,362) (52)

 
*P re-opening expenses  mainly include venue staff costs  (new venue preparaJon and staff training) and property expenses
(such as  uti l i ties , service charges  and bus iness  rates) incurred prior to a  new venue opening.
 
**ExcepJonal  costs  mainly relate to I T restructuring costs , as  wel l  as  aborJve recruitment costs  relaJng to certain Head
Office teams.
 
 
Consolidated balance sheet at 02 January 2025
 
Registered in England and Wales
Company number: 08684079

02 January 28 December
2025 2023

Note £000 £000
Assets  
Non-current assets  
Property, plant and equipment 15 104,586 101,544
Right-of-use assets 16 63,515 68,088
Intangible assets 17 9,247 9,388
Deferred tax assets 27 4,487 2,805
Trade and other receivables 20 333 173

182,168 181,998

Current assets  
Inventories 19 964 858
Trade and other receivables 20 7,386 5,216
Cash and cash equivalents 22 9,883 6,645

18,233 12,719
Total assets  200,401 194,717
Liabilities  
Current liabilities  
Trade and other payables 21 28,125 19,455
Lease l iabi l i ties 16 2,146 2,824

30,271 22,279

Non-current liabilities  
Loans  and borrowings 22 28,000 26,000
Other provis ions 26 1,596 1,631
Lease l iabi l i ties 16 104,082 100,414

133,678 128,045
Total liabilities  163,949 150,324
 
Net assets  36,452 44,393

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company  
Share capital 28 9,118 9,118
Share premium 57,112 57,112
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Share premium 57,112
Merger reserve 11,152 11,152
Other reserve 83 83
Retained earnings (41,013) (33,072)
Total equity  36,452 44,393
 
The s e  fi na nci a l  s ta te me nts  we re  a pprove d by the  Boa rd of Di re ctors  a nd a uthori s e d for i s s ue  on 14 Apri l  2025 a nd s i gne d
on i ts  be ha l f by:
 
 
 
 
Wi l l  Wors de l l
Fi na nce  Di re ctor
 
 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 02 January 2025
 

 

 

Note

Share
capital

£000

Share
premium

£000

Merger
reserve

£000

Other
reserve

£000

Retained
earnings

£000

Total
Equity

£000

Balance at 29 December 2022 9,118 57,112 11,152 83 (31,196) 46,269

Loss  for the year - - - - (2,696) (2,696)

 

Total comprehensive loss - - - - (2,696) (2,696)

Share-based payments 29 - - - - 820 820

Total transactions with owners of
the parent

- - - - 820 820

 

Balance at 28 December 2023 9,118 57,112 11,152 83 (33,072) 44,393

Loss  for the year - - - - (8,535) (8,535)

Total comprehensive loss - - - - (8,535) (8,535)

Share-based payments 29 - - - - 594 594

Total transactions with owners of
the parent

- - - - 594 594

Balance at 02 January 2025 9,118 57,112 11,152 83 (41,013) 36,452

 
Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 02 January 2025
 

02 January
28

December
2025 2023

Note £000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Loss  for the year (8,535) (2,696)
Adjustments  for:
Financial  expenses 12 6,855 5,449
Tax credit 27 (1,682) (2,805)
Operating loss (3,362) (52)

Depreciation and amortisation 15,16,17 14,867 13,152
Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 241 122
Impairment 18 2,626 724
Loss  on lease modification - 15
Share-based payment expense 29 594 820

14,966 14,781
Changes in working capital:
Increase in inventories (106) (168)
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables  (2,330) 850
Increase in trade and other payables 9,045 2,423
Net cash generated from operating activities 21,575 17,886

Cash flows from investing activities  
Proceeds from sale of assets - 6,490
Business  combinations - (1,250)
Acquis i tion of property, plant and equipment (15,433) (18,586)
Acquis i tion of intangible assets  (640) (829)
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Acquis i tion of intangible assets  (640) (829)
Net cash used in investing activities (16,073) (14,175)

Cash flows from financing activities  
Repayment of existing loan faci l i ty - (24,000)
Repayment of bank borrowings 22 (3,000) -
Drawdown of bank borrowings 22 5,000 28,000
Lease payments  - interest 16 (4,363) (3,409)
Lease payments  - capital 16 (3,330) (3,104)
Landlord capital  contributions  received 16 5,680 4,054
Loan arrangement fees  paid - (263)
Interest paid (2,251) (2,045)
Net cash used in financing activities (2,264) (767)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,238 2,944
Cash and cash equivalents  at the beginning of the year 6,645 3,701

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  9,883 6,645

The  Group ha d £7,000,000 of undra wn funds  a va i l a bl e  of a  £35,000,000 fa ci l i ty (2023: £9,000,000 of a  £35,000,000 fa ci l i ty) a t the
ye a r e nd.
 
 
Notes to the financial statements
 
1    General information

Everyman Media Group P LC and i ts  subs idiaries  (together, the Group) are engaged in the ownership and management of
cinemas in the United K ingdom. Everyman Media Group P LC (the Company) i s  a  publ ic company l imited by shares
registered, domici led and incorporated in England and Wales , in the United K ingdom (registered number 08684079). The
address  of i ts  registered office is  Studio 4, 2 Downshire Hi l l , London NW 3 1NR. Al l  trade takes  place in the United
Kingdom.       
 

2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies

This  final  results  announcement for the year ended 02 January 2025 has  been prepared in accordance with the UK adopted
International  Accounting Standards. The accounting pol icies  appl ied are cons istent with those set out in the Everyman
Media Group plc Annual  Report and Accounts  for the year ended 02 January 2025.
The financial  informaJon contained within this  final  results  announcement for the year ended 02 January 2025 and the
year ended 28 December 2023 is  derived from but does  not comprise statutory financial  s tatements  within the meaning of
secJon 434 of the Companies  Act 2006. Statutory accounts  for the year ended 28 December 2023 have been filed with the
Registrar of Companies  and those for the year ended 02 January 2025 wi l l  be filed fol lowing the Company's  annual  general
meeJng. The auditors ' report on the statutory accounts  for the year ended 02 January 2025 is  unqual ified, does  not draw
aPenJon to any maPers  by way of emphasis  and does  not contain any statement under secJon 498 of the Companies  Act
2006.
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  of the Group have been prepared in accordance with UK  adopted I nternaJonal
Accounting Standards.
 
The financial  s tatements  are prepared on the historical  cost bas is .
 
The preparaJon of financial  s tatements  in compl iance with UK  adopted I nternaJonal  AccounJng Standards  requires  the
use of certain criJcal  accounJng esJmates, i t a lso requires  Group management to exercise judgements  and esJmates  in
preparing the financial  s tatements . Their effects  are disclosed in the notes  below.
 
The accounJng pol icies  set out below have, unless  otherwise stated, been appl ied cons istently to a l l  periods  presented in
these Group financial  s tatements . The Group prepares  i ts  financial  s tatements  on a 52/53 week bas is . The year end date is
determined by the 52nd Thursday in the year. A 53rd week is  reported where the year end date is  no longer a l igned with 7
days  ei ther s ide of 31st December. The year ended 02 January 2025 is  a  53-week period. The comparaJve period is  a  52
week period.
 
Amounts  are rounded to the nearest thousand, unless  otherwise stated.
               
Going concern
 
Current trading is  in l ine with management expectaJons. Given the increased number of wide releases  year-on-year,
commitment to the theatrical  window from distributors  and new investment from streamers  in content for cinema,
management expect admiss ions  to conJnue to recover towards  pre-pandemic levels . Paid for Average Ticket P rice and
Spend per Head have continued to grow steadi ly despite wel l -publ icised concerns  over consumer spends.
 
Banking
 
At the end of the year, the Group had drawn down £28.0m on i ts  faci l iJes  and held £9.9m in cash; the undrawn faci l i ty was
therefore £7m and net banking debt £18.1m.
 
The Group's  Revolving Credit Faci l i ty has  leverage and fixed charge cover covenants . The Board has  reviewed forecast
scenarios  and is  confident that the bus iness  can conJnue to operate with sufficient headroom. These forecasts  include
prudent assumptions  around increased to admiss ions, as  wel l  as  wage increases  and inflation.
 
I n l ight of this , the Board cons ider i t appropriate to adopt the going concern bas is  of accounJng in preparing the financial
statements .
 
Base case Scenario
 
The period forecast i s  up to 30 Apri l  2026.
 
The forecast assumes that admiss ions  grow as  the film s late recovers  towards  pre-pandemic levels , as  wel l  as  in l ine with
the new venue pipel ine. Two new venues are assumed to open in 2025, at BrenMord in Q 1 and at The W hiteley (Bayswater)
in Q 3. The forecast a lso assumes the opening of a  new venue in Lichfield in the first quarter of 2026. Corresponding capital
investment has  been included for a l l  new openings.
 
In this  scenario the Group maintains  s igni ficant headroom in i ts  banking faci l i ties .
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In this  scenario the Group maintains  s igni ficant headroom in i ts  banking faci l i ties .

2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)
 
Going Concern (continued)
Stress testing
 
The Board cons iders  budget assumpJons on admiss ions  to be real isJc, parJcularly in l ight of current trading and the
stronger, more cons istently-phased 2025 film s late. A reducJon in admiss ions  of 6% during 2025 and 2026 has  been
model led. This  scenario would cause a breach in the Adjusted Leverage covenant in September 2025.

I f such a scenario were to occur, Management would be able to temporari ly reduce administraJve expenditure to increase
EBI TDA and avoid a  breach, without materia l  impact to the Group's  operaJons and the qual i ty of customer experience. The
Group also has  the abi l i ty to delay the deployment of capital  expenditure.

The Directors  bel ieve that the Group is  wel l -placed to manage i ts  financing and other bus iness  risks  satis factori ly and have
a reasonable expectaJon that the Group wi l l  have adequate resources  to conJnue in operaJon for at least 12 months  from
the s igning date of these consol idated financial  s tatements .
 
The Board cons iders  that a  6% reducJon in budgeted admiss ions  is  very unl ikely, parJcularly in l ight of bus iness
performance in the first quarter of 2025. As  a  result, the Board does  not bel ieve this  to represent a  materia l  uncertainty,
and therefore cons ider i t appropriate to adopt the going concern bas is  of accounting in preparing the financial  s tatements .
 
Use of non-GAAP profit and loss measures
The Group bel ieves  that a long with operaJng loss , adjusted EB I TDA provides  addiJonal  guidance to the statutory measures
of the performance of the bus iness  during the financial  year. The reconci l iaJon between operaJng loss  and adjusted
EBITDA is  shown on page 43.
 
Adjusted EB I TDA is  calculated by adding back depreciaJon, amorJsaJon, profit or loss  on disposal  of P roperty, P lant &
Equipment, pre-opening expenses  and certain non-recurring or non-cash i tems. Adjusted EB I TDA is  an internal  measure
used by management as  they bel ieve i t bePer reflects  the underlying performance of the Group beyond general ly accepted
accounting principles .
 
Exceptional  i tems relate to IT restructuring costs , as  wel l  as  abortive recruitment costs  relating to certain Head Office
teams.
 
Basis of consolidation        
W here the Group has  power, ei ther directly or indirectly so as  to have the abi l i ty to affect the amount of the investor
returns  and has  exposure or rights  to variable returns  from i ts  involvement with the investee, i t i s  class ified as  a
subs idiary. The balance sheet at 02 January 2025 incorporates  the results  of a l l  subs idiaries  of the Group for a l l  years  and
periods, as  set out in the bas is  of preparation and accounting pol icies .
 
I ntra-Group balances  and transacJons, and any unreal ised income and expenses  aris ing from intra-Group transacJons,
are el iminated. Unreal ised losses  are el iminated in the same way as  unreal ised gains , but only to the extent that there is  no
evidence of impairment.
 
The consol idated financial  s tatements  include the results  of the Company and al l  i ts  subs idiary undertakings  made up to
the same accounting date.
 
2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)

Merger reserve    
O n 29 O ctober 2013 the Company became the new holding company for the Group. This  was  put into effect through a share-
for-share exchange of 1 O rdinary share of 10 pence in Everyman Media Group P LC for 1 O rdinary share of 10 pence in
Everyman Media Holdings  Limited (previous ly, Everyman Media Group Limited), the previous  holding company for the
Group. The value of 1 share in the Company was equivalent to the value of 1 share in Everyman Media Holdings  Limited.
 
The accounJng treatment for group reorganisaJons is  presented under the scope of I F RS 3. The introducJon of the new
holding company was accounted for as  a  capital  reorganisaJon us ing the principles  of reverse acquis iJon accounJng
under I F RS 3. Therefore, the consol idated financial  s tatements  are presented as  i f Everyman Media Group P LC has  a lways
been the holding company for the Group. The Company was incorporated on 10 September 2013.
 
The use of merger accounJng principles  has  resulted in a  balance in Group capital  and reserves  which has  been class ified
as  a  merger reserve and included in the Group's  shareholders ' funds.         
 
The Company recognised the value of i ts  investment in Everyman Media Holdings  Limited at fa i r value based on the iniJal
share placing price on admiss ion to AI M. As  permiPed by s612 of the Companies  Act 2006, the amount aPributable to
share premium was transferred to the merger reserve.
 
Revenue recognition
Revenue for the Group is  measured at the fa ir value of the cons ideraJon received or receivable. The Group recognises
revenue for services  provided when the amount of revenue can be rel iably measured and i t i s  probable that future
economic benefi ts  wi l l  flow to the enti ty.
 
Most of the Group's  revenue is  derived from the sale of Jckets  for film admiss ions  and the sale of food and beverage, and
therefore the amount of revenue earned is  determined by reference to the prices  of those i tems. The Group's  revenues from
film and entertainment acJviJes  are recognised on compleJon of the showing of the relevant film. The Group's  revenues
for food and beverages  are recognised at the point of sale as  this  i s  the time the performance obl igations  have been met.
 
Bookings, giS cards  and s imi lar income which are received in advance of the related performance are class ified as
deferred revenue and shown as  a  l iabi l i ty unti l  completion of the performance obl igation.
 
Contractual -based revenue from Everywhere (unl imited Jckets) memberships  is  iniJal ly class ified as  deferred revenue and
subsequently recognised on a straight-l ine bas is  over the year. Revenue from Everyman and Everyicon is  class ified as
deferred revenue and subsequently recognised in l ine with Jcket usage. AdverJs ing revenue is  recognised at the point the
advertisement is  shown in the cinemas.
 
Fees  charged for advanced bookings  of tickets  are recognised at the point when the tickets  are purchased. 
 
Goodwill



Goodwill
Goodwi l l  i s  s tated at cost less  any accumulated impairment losses . Goodwi l l  i s  a l located to cash-generaJng units  and is
not amorJsed but is  tested annual ly for impairment. Goodwi l l  represents  the excess  of the costs  of a  bus iness  combinaJon
over the acquis iJon date fa ir values  of the idenJfiable assets , l iabi l iJes  and conJngent l iabi l iJes  acquired. Goodwi l l  i s
capital ised as  an intangible asset.
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generaJng unit (CGU) is  the greater of i ts  value-in-use and i ts  fa i r value less
costs  to sel l . I n assess ing value-in-use, the esJmated future cash flows are discounted to their present value us ing a  pre-
tax discount rate that reflects  current market assessments  of the Jme value of money and the risks  specific to the asset. For
the purpose of impairment tesJng, assets  that cannot be tested individual ly are grouped together into the smal lest group of
assets  that generates  cash inflows from conJnuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets  or
groups of assets  (the CGU), this  i s  usual ly an individual  cinema venue. The goodwi l l  acquired in a  bus iness  combinaJon,
for the purpose of impairment tesJng, i s  a l located to CGUs. Subject to an operaJng segment cei l ing test, for the purposes  of
goodwi l l  impairment tesJng, CGUs to which goodwi l l  has  been al located are aggregated so that the level  at which
impairment is  tested reflects  the lowest level  at which goodwi l l  i s  monitored for internal  reporJng purposes. Goodwi l l
acquired in a  bus iness  combinaJon is  a l located to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies  of the
combination.
 
An impairment loss  i s  recognised i f the carrying amount of an asset or i ts  CGU exceeds i ts  esJmated recoverable amount.
I mpairment losses  are recognised in the profit and loss . I mpairment losses  recognised in respect of CGUs are a l located
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwi l l  a l located to the units , and then to reduce the carrying amounts  of the
other assets  in the unit/group of units  on a pro-rata bas is . O nce goodwi l l  has  been impaired, the impairment cannot be
reversed in future periods.
 
2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)
 
Property, plant and equipment
I tems of property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost less  accumulated depreciaJon and accumulated impairment
losses . As  wel l  as  the purchase price, cost includes  directly attributable costs .
 
DepreciaJon on assets  under construcJon does  not commence unJl  they are complete and avai lable for use. These assets
represent fit-outs . DepreciaJon is  provided on al l  other leasehold improvements  and al l  other i tems of property, plant and
equipment so as  to write off their carrying value over the expected useful  economic l ives . The esJmated useful  l ives  are as
fol lows:       
                                                               
Leasehold improvements    - s traight l ine on cost over the remaining l i fe of the lease
Plant and machinery                           - 5 years                                                                 
Fixtures  and fi ttings                              - 8 years
 
Impairment
The carrying amounts  of the Group's  assets  are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date to determine whether there is  any
indicaJon of impairment. I f any such indicaJon exists , the asset's  recoverable amount is  esJmated. For goodwi l l  assets
that have an indefini te useful  economic l i fe, the recoverable amount is  estimated at each Balance Sheet date.
 
An impairment loss  i s  recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or i ts  cash-generaJng unit ('CGU') exceeds i ts
recoverable amount. Impairment losses  are recognised in the Consol idated Statement of Profi t or Loss .
 
I mpairment losses  recognised in respect of CGUs are a l located first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwi l l
a l located to CGUs and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets  in the unit on a pro-rata bas is .
 
A CGU is  the smal lest idenJfiable group of assets  that generates  cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets  or groups of assets  and relates  to an individual  cinema venue.
 
Provisions
A provis ion is  recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has  a  present legal  or construcJve obl igaJon as  a  result of
a past event, that can be rel iably measured and i t i s  probable that an ouMlow of economic benefits  wi l l  be required to
sePle the obl igaJon. Lease di lapidaJon provis ions  are recognised when entering into a  lease where an obl igaJon is
created. This  obl igaJon may be to return the leasehold property to i ts  original  s tate at the end of the lease in accordance
with the lease terms. Leasehold di lapidaJons are recognised at the net present value and discounted over the remaining
lease period.
 
Leases
At incepJon of a  contract, the Group assesses  whether a  contract i s , or contains , a  lease. A contract i s , or contains , a  lease
i f the contract conveys  the right to control  the use of an idenJfied asset for a  period of Jme in exchange for cons ideraJon.
The majori ty of leases  entered into determine the lease commencement to be dependent on the date in which access  to the
property is  provided by the landlord, at this  point we assess  the Group gains  control .
 
To assess  whether a  contract conveys  the right to control  the use an identi fied asset, the Group assesses  whether:
 

·      the contract involves  the use of an idenJfied asset i .e. a  cinema venue (this  may be
specified expl ici tly or impl ici tly, and should be phys ical ly disJnct or represent
substantia l ly a l l  of the capacity of a  phys ical ly distinct asset).

·      the Group has  the right to obtain substanJal ly a l l  of the economic benefits  from use
of the asset throughout the period of use, which wi l l  be the Group's  use of the venue;
and

·      the Group has  the right to direct the use of the asset. The Group has  this  right when
it has  the decis ion-making rights  that are most relevant to changing how and for
what purpose the asset i s  used. This  i s  evident through the fit out of the venue for i ts
intended use as  a  cinema.

Lease l iabi l iJes  are measured at the present value of the contractual  payments  due to the lessor over the lease term, with
the discount rate determined by reference to the rate inherent in the lease unless  (as  i s  typical ly the case) this  i s  not readi ly
determinable, in which case the Group's  incremental  borrowing rate on commencement of the lease is  used, the
incremental  borrowing rate is  most commonly used in the Groups recognition of leases.
 
 
R ight of use assets  are iniJal ly measured at the amount of the lease l iabi l i ty, reduced for any lease incenJves  received,
and increased for:



·      lease payments  made at or before commencement of the lease;
·      ini tia l  di rect costs  incurred; and
·      the amount of any provis ion recognised where the Group is  contractual ly required to

dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset (typical ly leasehold di lapidaJons - see note
26.)

 
Subsequent to iniJal  measurement lease l iabi l iJes  increase as  a  result of interest charged at a  constant rate on the
balance outstanding and are reduced for lease payments  made. Right-of-use assets  are amorJsed on a straight-l ine bas is
over the remaining term of the lease.
 
I f the Group revises  i ts  esJmate of the term of any lease i t adjusts  the carrying amount of the lease l iabi l i ty to reflect the
payments  to make over the revised term, which are discounted us ing a  revised discount rate. An equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amorJsed over the remaining
(revised) lease term. I f the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset i s  adjusted to zero, any further reducJon is  recognised
in profi t or loss .
 
Sale and Leaseback transactions
The Group has  entered into two sale and leaseback transacJons during the prior year where the Group transferred an
property to another enJty and leased the property back from the buyer-lessor. I n both cases  a  sale was  deemed to have
taken place and the Group de-recognised the underlying asset and appl ied the lessee accounJng model  to the leaseback
arrangement. A right-of-use asset i s  recognised based on the retained porJon of the previous  carrying amount of the asset
and only the gain or loss  i s  recognised related to the rights  which are transferred to the lessor.
 
I mmediately before the iniJal  class ificaJon of the asset as  held for sale, the carrying amount of the asset wi l l  be measured
in accordance with appl icable I F RSs. The Group has  previous ly held freehold assets  which were later class ified as  assets
held for sale.
 
Assets  that are class ified as  held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fa ir value less  costs  to sel l
(fa i r value less  costs  to distribute in the case of assets  class i fied as  held for distribution to owners).
 
Impairment must be cons idered both at the time of class i fication as  held for sale and subsequently:
 

·      At the Jme of class ificaJon as  held for sale. I mmediately prior to class i fying an asset or
disposal  group as  held for sale, impairment is  measured and recognised in accordance
with the appl icable I F RSs. Any impairment loss  i s  recognised in profit or loss  unless  the
asset had been measured at revalued amount under I AS 16 or I AS 38, in which case the
impairment is  treated as  a  revaluation decrease.

·      ASer class ificaJon as  held for sale. I mpairment is  calculated based on the difference
between the adjusted carrying amounts  of the asset/disposal  group and fa ir value less
costs  to sel l . Any impairment loss  that arises  by us ing the measurement principles  in I F RS 5
would be recognised in profi t or loss .

Impairment of these transactions  is  cons idered within the wider portfol io for impairment review.
 
Leaseback
 
O n iniJal  recogniJon, the Group measures  the right of use assets  as  a  proporJon of the carrying amount of the underlying
asset. The lease l iabi l i ties  are recorded in adherence to the above principles  on lease recognition.
 
2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)

 
W hen the lease l iabi l i ty i s  remeasured, a  corresponding adjustment is  made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or i s  recorded in profi t or loss  i f the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has  been reduced to zero.
 
Taxation
Tax on the profit and loss  for the year comprises  current and deferred tax. Tax is  recognised in the profit and loss  except to
the extent that i t relates  to i tems recognised directly in equity, in which case i t i s  recognised in equity. Current tax is  the
expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss  for the year, us ing tax rates  enacted or substanJvely
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous  years .
 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l iJes  are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or l iabi l i ty in the consol idated
balance sheet di ffers  from i ts  tax base, except for di fferences  aris ing on:
 

·      The ini tia l  recognition of goodwi l l .
·      The iniJal  recogniJon of an asset or l iabi l i ty in a  transacJon which is  not a  bus iness

combinaJon and at the Jme of the transacJon affects  neither accounJng nor taxable
profi t.

·      I nvestments  in subs idiaries  and jointly control led enJJes where the Group is  able to
control  the Jming of the reversal  of the difference and i t i s  probable that the difference
wi l l  not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 
RecogniJon of deferred tax assets  i s  restricted to those instances  where i t i s  probable that taxable profit wi l l  be avai lable
against which the di fference can be uti l i sed.
 
The amount of the asset or l iabi l i ty i s  determined us ing tax rates  that have been enacted or substanJvely enacted by the
reporJng date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax l iabi l iJes  or assets  are sePled or recovered. Deferred tax
balances  are not discounted.
 
Deferred tax assets  and l iabi l iJes  are offset when the Group has  a  legal ly enforceable right to offset current tax assets  and
l iabi l i ties  and the deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties  relate to taxes  levied by the same tax authori ty on ei ther:
 

·      The same taxable Group company; or
·      Different company enJJes which intend either to sePle current tax assets  and l iabi l iJes  on a

net bas is  or to real ise the assets  and sePle the l iabi l iJes  s imultaneously, in each future
period in which s ignificant amounts  of deferred tax assets  and l iabi l iJes  are expected to be
settled or recovered.           

 



 
Operating segments
The Board, the chief operaJng decis ion maker, cons iders  that the Group's  primary acJvity consJtutes  one reporJng
segment, as  defined under IFRS8.
 
The total  profit measures  are operaJng profit and profit for the year, both disclosed on the face of the consol idated profit
and loss . No differences  exist between the bas is  of preparaJon of the performance measures  used by management and the
figures  used in the Group financial  information.
 
Al l  of the revenues generated relate to cinema Jckets , sa le of food and beverages  and anci l lary income, an analys is  of
which appears  in the notes  below. Al l  revenues are whol ly generated within the UK . Accordingly, there are no addiJonal
disclosures  provided to the financial  information.
 
Pre-opening expenses
O verhead expenses  incurred prior to a  new s i te opening are expensed to the profit and loss  in the year that they are
incurred. S imi larly, the costs  of tra ining new staff during the pre-opening phase are expensed as  incurred. These expenses
are included within administrative expenses, right-of-use depreciation and financing expenses.
 
 
2   Basis of preparation and accounting policies (continued)

 
Employee benefits                                                                                                               
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribuJon plan is  a  post-employment benefit plan under which the company pays  fixed contribuJons into a
separate enJty and wi l l  have no legal  or construcJve obl igaJon to pay further amounts . O bl igaJons for contribuJons to
defined contribuJon pension plans  are recognised as  an expense in the profit and loss  in the periods  during which
services  are rendered by employees.
 
Share-based payments       
Certain employees  (including Directors  and senior execuJves) of the Group receive remuneraJon in the form of equity-
sePled share-based payment transacJons, whereby employees  render services  as  cons ideraJon for equity instruments
(equity-sePled transacJons, through the Growth Share Scheme, Approved and Unapproved O pJons Schemes). The cost of
share-based payments  is  recharged by the Company to subs idiary undertakings  in proportion to the services  recognised.
 
Equity-sePled share based schemes are measured at  fa i r value, excluding the effect of non-market based vesJng
conditions, at the date on which they are granted. The fa ir value is  determined by us ing an appropriate pricing model .
 
The cost of equity-sePled transacJons is  recognised, together with a  corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service condiJons are fulfil led, ending on the date on which the relevant employees  become
ful ly enJtled to the award (the vesJng date). The profit or loss  charge or credit for a  period represents  the movement in
cumulative expense recognised as  at the beginning and end of that period.
 
No expense is  recognised for awards  that do not ulJmately vest, except for awards  where vesJng is  condiJonal  upon a
market condiJon, which are treated as  vesJng i rrespecJve of whether or not the market condiJon has  been saJsfied,
provided that a l l  other performance and/or service condiJons are saJsfied. The di luJve effect of outstanding opJons is
reflected as  additional  share di lution in the computation of earnings  per share.
 
3   Financial Instruments

The Group is  exposed through i ts  operations  to the fol lowing financial  ri sks :
 

·       Credit risk
·       Interest rate risk
·       Liquidity risk

 
I n common with a l l  other bus inesses , the Group is  exposed to risks  that arise from i ts  use of financial  instruments . This
note describes  the Group's  objecJves, pol icies  and processes  for managing those risks  and the methods used to measure
them. Further quanti tative information in respect of these risks  i s  presented throughout these financial  s tatements .
 
There have been no substanJve changes  in the Group's  exposure to financial  instrument risks , i t's  objecJves, pol icies  and
processes  for managing those risks  or the methods used to measure them from previous  periods  unless  otherwise stated in
this  note.
 
The principal  financial  instruments  used by the Group, from which financial  instrument risk arises  are as  fol lows:
 

·       Trade receivables
·       Cash and cash equivalents
·       Trade and other payables
·       Floating rate bank revolving credit faci l i ties  and lease l iabi l i ties

 
Financial assets
Al l  the Group's  financial  assets  are subsequently accounted for at amorJsed cost. These assets  arise principal ly from the
provis ion of goods and services  to customers  (e.g. trade receivables), but a lso incorporate other types  of financial  assets
where the objecJve is  to hold these assets  in order to col lect contractual  cash flows and the contractual  cash flows are
solely payments  of principal  and interest. They are iniJal ly recognised at fa i r value plus  transacJon costs  that are directly
aPributable to their acquis iJon or i ssue, and are subsequently carried at amorJsed cost us ing the effecJve interest rate
method, less  provis ion for impairment.
 
I mpairment provis ions  for trade receivables  are recognised based on the s impl ified approach within I F RS 9 us ing a
provis ion matrix in the determinaJon of the l i feJme expected credit losses . During this  process  the probabi l i ty of the non-
payment of the trade receivables  is  assessed. This  probabi l i ty i s  then mulJpl ied by the amount of the expected loss  aris ing
from default to determine the l i feJme expected credit loss  for the trade receivables . For trade receivables , which are
reported net, such provis ions  are recorded in a  separate provis ion account with the loss  being recognised in profit or loss .
O n confirmaJon that the trade receivable wi l l  not be col lectable, the gross  carrying value of the asset i s  wriPen off against
the associated provis ion.
 
The Group's  financial  assets  measured at amorJsed cost comprise trade and other receivables  and cash and cash



equivalents  in the consol idated balance sheet.
 
Cash and cash equivalents  comprise cash balances, deposits  and cash amounts  in trans it due from credit cards  which are
settled within four days  from the date of the reporting period.
 
Financial liabilities and equity                                                          
Financial  instruments  issued by the Group are treated as  equity only to the extent that they meet the fol lowing conditions:
                                                                                                                               

·      They include no contractual  obl igaJons upon the Group to del iver cash or other financial
assets  or to exchange financial  assets  or financial  l iabi l iJes  with another party under
conditions  that are potentia l ly unfavourable to the Group

·      W here the instruments  may be sePled in the Group's  own equity instruments , they are ei ther a
non-derivaJve that include no obl igaJon to del iver a  variable number of the Group's  own
equity instruments  or they are a  derivaJve that wi l l  be sePled by the Group exchanging a  fixed
amount of cash or other financial  assets  for a  fixed number of i ts  own equity instruments .

To the extent that this  definiJon is  not met, the proceeds of i ssue are class ified as  a  financial  l iabi l i ty and iniJal ly
recognised at fa i r value net of any transaction costs  directly attributable. Such interest-bearing l iabi l i ties  are subsequently
measured at amorJsed cost us ing the effecJve interest rate method, which ensures  that any interest expense over the
period to repayment is  at a  constant rate on the balance of the l iabi l i ty carried in the consol idated statement of financial
pos iJon. For the purposes  of each financial  l iabi l i ty, interest expense includes  iniJal  transacJon costs  and any premium
payable on redemption, as  wel l  as  any interest or coupon payable whi le the l iabi l i ty i s  outstanding.
 
Credit risk
Credit risk i s  the risk of financial  loss  to the Group i f a  customer or counterparty to a  financial  instrument fa i ls  to meet i ts
contractual  obl igaJons. The Group is  mainly exposed to credit risk from credit sales . I t i s  Group pol icy, to assess  the credit
risk of new customers  before entering materia l  contracts .
 
Credit risk a lso arises  from cash and cash equivalents  and deposits  with banks  and financial  insJtuJons. For banks  and
financial  insti tutions, only independently rated parties  with minimum rating "A" are accepted.
 
Further disclosures  regarding trade and other receivables , which are neither past due nor impaired, are provided in note
25.
 
Interest rate risk
The Group is  exposed to cash flow interest rate risk from i ts  revolving credit faci l i ty at variable rates . During 2024 and
2023, the Group's  borrowings  at variable rate were denominated in GBP.
 
The Group analyses  the interest rate exposure on a monthly bas is . A sens iJvity analys is  i s  performed by applying various
reasonable expectations  on rate changes  to the expected faci l i ty drawdown.
 
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises  from the Group's  management of working capital  and the finance charges  and principal  repayments  on
its  debt instruments . I t i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  encounter difficulty in meeJng i ts  financial  obl igaJons as  they fa l l
due. The Group's  pol icy is  to ensure that i t wi l l  a lways  have sufficient cash to a l low i t to meet i ts  l iabi l iJes  when they
become due.
 
The Board receives  rol l ing 12-month cash flow projecJons on a monthly bas is  as  wel l  as  informaJon regarding cash
balances. At the end of the financial  year, these projecJons indicated that the Group expected to have sufficient l iquid
resources  to meet i ts  obl igaJons under a l l  reasonably expected ci rcumstances, through uJl isaJon of i ts  revolving credit
faci l i ty. 
 
4   Changes in accounting policies

New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted from 01 January 2024
 
There are a  number of standards, amendments  to standards, and interpretations  which have been issued by the IASB that
are effective in future accounting periods  that the Group has  decided not to adopt early.
 
The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 01 January 2024:

 
·       Lease Liabi l i ty in a  Sale and Leaseback (Amendments  to IFRS 16 Leases)
·       Class i fication of Liabi l i ties  as  Current or Non-Current (including Class i fication of Liabi l i ties  as  Current or

Noncurrent - Deferral  of Effective Date) (Amendments  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial  Statements)
·       Non-current Liabi l i ties  with Covenants  (Amendments  to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial  Statements)
·       Suppl ier Finance Arrangements  (Amendments  to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial  Instruments:

Disclosures)
 

The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 01 January 2025:
 

·       Lack of Exchangeabi l i ty (Amendment to IAS 21 The Effects  of Changes  in Foreign Exchange Rates)
 
The fol lowing amendments  are effective for the period beginning 01 January 2026:

·      Amendments  to the Class i fication and Measurement of Financial  Instruments  (Amendments
to IFRS 9 Financial  Instruments)

·      Contracts  Referencing Nature-dependent Electrici ty (Amendments  to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)
 

The Group is  currently assess ing the impact of these new accounting standards  and amendments .
 
5   Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes  certain esJmates  and assumpJons regarding the future. EsJmates  and judgements  are conJnual ly
evaluated based on historical  experience and other factors , including expectaJons of future events  that are bel ieved to be
reasonable under the ci rcumstances. I n the future, actual  experience may differ from these esJmates  and assumpJons. The
esJmates  and assumpJons that have a s ignificant risk of caus ing a  materia l  adjustment to the carrying amounts  of assets
and l iabi l i ties  within the next financial  year are discussed below.
 



 
Impairment of cinemas (accounting estimate)
The Group determines  whether the above are impaired when impairment indicators  exist or based on the annual
impairment assessment. The annual  assessment requires  an esJmate of the value in use of the CGUs to which the
intangible and tangible fixed assets  are a l located, which is  at the individual  cinema s i te level .
 
EsJmaJng the value in use requires  the Group to make an esJmate of the expected future cash flows from each cinema and
discount these to their net present value at an appropriate discount rate. Al l  venues  are located in the UK  and therefore a
s ingle discount rate has  been used for a l l  CGUs. The resulJng calculaJon is  sens iJve to the assumpJons in respect of
future cash flows and the discount rate appl ied. The Directors  cons ider that the assumpJons made represent their best
esJmate of the future cash flows generated by the CGUs and that the discount rates  used are appropriate given the risks
associated with the speci fic cash flows. A sens itivi ty analys is  has  been performed over the estimates  (see Note 18)
 
Deferred tax assets (accounting estimate)
The Group recognizes  deferred tax assets  to the extent that i t i s  probable that future taxable profits  wi l l  be avai lable
against which temporary differences  can be uJl ised. The recogniJon of deferred tax assets  based on future taxable profits
requires  s igni ficant management judgment and estimation.
 
I n assess ing the probabi l i ty of future taxable profits , management cons iders  historical  profitabi l i ty, forecasts , and
business  plans. These assessments  are based on various  factors  including, but not l imited to, expected future market
conditions, industry trends, regulatory environment, and speci fic operational  strategies .
 
The Group reviewed i ts  forecasts  for a  three year period based on management expectaJons and projecJons to assess  the
l ikel ihood of future taxable profits  and adjusts  the recogniJon of Deferred Tax assets  accordingly. However, actual  results
may di ffer from these forecasts  due to changes  in economic conditions, market dynamics , or other unforeseen events .
 
Incremental borrowing rate (accounting estimate)
The Group determines  the incremental  borrowing rates  used to discount lease payments  for the purpose of measuring the
lease l iabi l i ty and right-of-use asset under I F RS 16, Leases. The determinaJon of incremental  borrowing rates  involves
s ignificant judgment and esJmaJon by management. Key factors  cons idered are the nature and term of lease, market
conditions  and avai labi l i ty of comparable financing.
 
 
6   Revenue

 Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Fi lm and entertainment 51,849 44,718

Food and beverages 45,881 38,563
Venue Hire, Advertis ing and
Membership Income 9,443 7,578

107,173 90,859
 
Al l  trade takes  place in the United Kingdom.
 
The fol lowing provides  information about opening and clos ing receivables , contract assets  and l iabi l i ties  from contracts
with customers.
 

Contract balances 02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Trade receivables 2,641 1,565

Deferred income 5,757 4,330

 
 
Deferred income relates  to advanced cons ideration received from customers  in respect of memberships , gi ft cards  and
advanced screenings. The movement in deferred income relates  predominantly to increases  in memberships , gi ft cards  and
advertis ing contracts .
 

7   Loss before taxation

Loss  before taxation is  s tated after charging:

Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Depreciation of tangible assets 10,013 8,808

Amortisation of right-of-use assets 4,073 3,591

Amortisation of intangible assets 781 753

Loss  on disposal  of property, plant and equipment 241 121

Share-based payment expense 594 820

Impairment 2,626 724
 
 

8   Staff numbers and employment costs      

The average number of employees  (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was  as  fol lows:
 



 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Number Number

Management 276 252

Operations 1,352 1,180

1,628 1,432
 
At the year end the number of employees  (including Directors) was  1,989 (2023: 1,689). Management staff represent a l l  ful l -
time employees  in the Group.
               

 Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Wages and salaries 28,193 22,800

Social  securi ty costs 2,288 1,809

Pension costs 422 356

Share-based payment expense 594 820

31,497 25,785

 
There were pens ion l iabi l i ties  outstanding as  at 02 January 2025 of £89,000 (28 December 2023:
£81,000).                                               
                                               
9   Directors' remuneration
               
The remuneration of the Directors , who are the key management personnel  of the Group, i s  set out below in aggregate for
each of the categories  speci fied in IAS24 Related Party Disclosures:
 

Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Salaries/fees 829 815

Bonuses 76 -

Other benefi ts 11 7

Pension contributions 19 17

935 839
Share-based payment
expense 638 662

1,573 1,501
 
 
9   Directors' remuneration (continued)
 
Information regarding the highest paid Director is  as  fol lows:

Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000
 
Salaries/fees 324 312

Bonuses 39 -

Other benefi ts 9 6

Pension contributions 10 10

382 328
Share-based payment
expense 580 368

962 696
 
Directors  remuneration for each Director is  disclosed in the Remuneration Committee report. The costs  relating to the
Directors  remuneration are incurred by Everyman Media Limited for the wider Group. No Directors  exercised options  over
shares  in the Company during the year (2023: None).
 
10   Auditor's remuneration

 Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Fees  payable to the Group's  auditor for: £000 £000



Fees  payable to the Group's  auditor for: £000 £000

Audit of the Company's  financial  s tatements 26 36

Audit of the subs idiary undertakings  of the Company 189 161

215 197
 
11   Other Operating Income

Year ended 
02 January

2025

£'000

Year ended 
28 December

2023

£'000

Landlord compensation 506 647

 
12   Financial expenses
 Year ended Year ended

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Interest on bank loans 2,303 1,934

Bank loan arrangement fees 178 148

Interest on lease l iabi l i ties 4,363 3,409

Revaluation of di lapidations - (50)

Interest on di lapidations  provis ion 11 8

6,855 5,449
13   Taxation

 Year ended Year ended
02 January 

2025
28 December 

2023

£000 £000

Deferred tax credit (1,682) (2,805)

Total  tax credit (1,682) (2,805)
 
The reasons  for the di fference between the actual  tax credit for the period and the standard rate of corporation tax in the
United Kingdom appl ied to the loss  for the year are as  fol lows:
 

Reconci l iation of effective tax rate Year ended Year ended
02 January 

2025
28 December 

2023

£000 £000

Loss  before tax (10,217) (5,501)

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 25% (2023:23.5%) (2,554) (1,293)

Permanent di fferences  (expenses  not deductible for tax purposes) 1,310 1,313

Impact of di fference in overseas  tax rates - 3

Effect of change in expected future statutory rates  on deferred tax - (196)

Changes  in prior year capital  a l lowance estimate (468) -
Tax losses/temp. di fferences  of deferred tax previous ly
unrecognised 30 (2,632)

Total  tax credit (1,682) (2,805)
 
 
14   Earnings per share

 Year ended Year ended
02 January

2025
28 December

2023

Loss  used in calculating bas ic and di luted earnings  per share (£000) (8,535) (2,696)

Number of shares  (000's)
Weighted average number of shares  for the purpose of bas ic
earnings  per share 91,178 91,178

Number of shares  (000's)
Weighted average number of shares  for the purpose of di luted
earnings  per share 91,178 91,178

Basic loss  per share (pence) (9.36) (2.96)

Di luted loss  per share (pence) (9.36) (2.96)
 
 
14   Earnings per share (continued)
 

02 January 28 December



02 January 28 December

2025 2023
Weighted

average
Weighted

average

no. 000's no. 000's

Issued at beginning of the year 91,178 91,178

Share options  exercised - -

Weighted average number of shares  at end of the year 91,178 91,178
 
Weighted average number of shares  for the purpose of di luted earnings  per
share

Bas ic weighted average number of shares 91,178 91,178

Effect of share options  in issue - -

Weighted average number of shares  at end of the year 91,178 91,178
 
Bas ic earnings  per share values  are calculated by dividing net loss  for the year aPributable to O rdinary equity holders  of
the parent by the weighted average number of O rdinary shares  outstanding during the year. The shares  issued in the year in
the above table reflect the weighted number of shares  rather than the actual  number of shares  issued.
 
The Company has  5.1m potenJal ly i ssuable O rdinary shares  (2023: 7.2m) al l  of which relate to the potenJal  di luJon from
share opJons issued to the Directors  and certain employees  and contractors , under the Group's  incenJve arrangements . I n
the current year these opJons are anJ-di luJve as  they would reduce the loss  per share and so haven't been included in the
di luted losses  per share.
 
The Company made a post-tax profi t for the year of £1,192,000 (2023: £1,365,000).
 
15   Property, plant and equipment

Land & Leasehold Plant & Fixtures  & Assets  under

Bui ldings improvements machinery Fittings construction Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost
At 29 December
2022 4,409 84,457 16,176 13,593 6,522 125,157

Acquired in the year - 613 1,065 786 17,617 20,081
Acquired in
bus iness
combination - 1,232 389 326 - 1,947

Disposals (1,223) (210) - (15) - (1,448)
Transfer on
completion - 8,372 1,600 5,977 (15,949) -
Transfer on sale of
freehold (3,186) 3,023 38 125 - -
At 28 December
2023 - 97,487 19,268 20,792 8,190 145,737

Acquired in the year - 8,365 2,070 1,603 2,786 14,824
Disposals - (11) (4) (650) - (665)
Transfer on
completion - 2,796 402 1,655 (4,853) -
At 02 January 2025 - 108,637 21,736 23,400 6,123 159,896

Depreciation
At 29 December
2022 70 19,797 9,767 5,456 - 35,090

Charge for the year 8 4,197 2,743 1,860 - 8,808

Impairment - 390 13 13 - 416

On Disposals (13) (95) - (13) - (121)
Transfer on sale of
freehold (65) 65 - - - -
At 28 December
2023 - 24,354 12,523 7,316 - 44,193

Charge for the year - 4,795 2,897 2,321 - 10,013
Impairment - 1,047 65 416 - 1,528
On Disposals - (1) (2) (421) - (424)
At 02 January 2025 - 30,195 15,483 9,632 - 55,310

Net book value

At 02 January 2025 - 78,442 6,253 13,768 6,123 104,586

At 28 December
2023 - 73,133 6,745 13,476 8,190 101,544

At 29 December
2022 4,339 64,660 6,409 8,137 6,522 90,067
 



 
 
Impairment cons iderations  of tangible fixed assets  were cons idered us ing the value in use bas is  disclosed in Note 18.
 
16  Leases
Nature of leasing activities
The Group leases  a l l  properJes  in the towns and ciJes  from which i t operates . I n some locaJons, depending on the lease
contract s igned, the lease payments  may increase each year by inflaJon or and in others  they are reset periodical ly to
market rental  rates . For some property leases  the periodic rent is  fixed over the lease term. The Group also leases  certain
vehicles . Leases  of vehicles  comprise only fixed payments  over the lease terms.
 
The percentages  in the table below reflect the current proporJons of lease payments  that are ei ther fixed or variable. The
sens iJvity reflects  the impact on the carrying amount of lease l iabi l iJes  and right-of-use assets  i f there was an upl iS of 5%
on the balance sheet date to lease payments  that are variable.
 
02 January 2025 Lease

contract

No.

Fixed

payments

%

Variable

payments

%

Sensitivi ty

(+/-)

£'000

Property leases  with payments  l inked to inflation 26 - 10% 3,039

Property leases  with periodic upl i fts  to market rentals 23 - 73% 1,718

Property leases  with fixed payments 5 15% - -

Vehicle leases 5 2% - -

59 17% 83% 4,757

During 2024 the Group entered three property leases  and one agreement for lease for new venues for a  period of 25 years
each. The lease l iabi l i ty and right-of-use asset for the agreement for lease have not been recognised at 2 January 2025 as
the Group had yet to take access . The aggregate future cash outflows to which the group is  exposed in respect of this
contract i s  fixed payments  of £104,000 per year for the next 5 years , with only rent reviews every 5 years .
 
 
28 December 2023 Lease

contract

No.

Fixed

payments

%

Variable

payments

%

Sensitivi ty

(+/-)

£'000

Property leases  with payments  l inked to inflation 22 - 61% 2,854

Property leases  with periodic upl i fts  to market rentals 23 - 28% 1,745

Property leases  with fixed payments 5 10% - -

Vehicle leases 4 1% - -

54 11% 89% 4,599

 
 
Right-of-Use Assets

Land & Bui ldings
£'000

Motor
Vehicles  £'000

 

Total
£'000

As at 29 December 2022 58,865 55 58,920

Additions 6,759 22 6,781

Business  combinations 6,672 - 6,672

Negative addition* (1,361) - (1,361)

Amortisation (3,563) (28) (3,591)

Impairment (308) - (308)

Effect of modification to lease terms 975 - 975

At 28 December 2023 68,039 49 68,088

   

Additions 1,410 58 1,468

Negative addition* (1,504) - (1,504)

Amortisation (4,047) (26) (4,073)

Impairment (1,098) - (1,098)

Effect of modification to lease terms 634 - 634

At 02 January 2025 63,434 81 63,515

 
16   Leases (continued)
Lease incentives  received prior to lease commencement during the year are deducted directly from the right of use, these
amounted to £250,000  (2023: £Ni l ).

Lease liabilities
 

Land &
Bui ldings

£'000

Motor
Vehicles

£'000

 

Total  £'000



£'000 £'000

At 29 December 2022 86,421 52 86,473

Additions 7,349 22 7,371

Acquired through bus iness  combination 7,369 - 7,369

Interest expense 3,407 2 3,409

Effect of modification to lease terms 1,075 - 1,075

Lease payments (6,449) (64) (6,513)

Landlord contributions 4,054 - 4,054

At 28 December 2023 103,226 12 103,238

Additions 1,334 58 1,392

Negative addition* (1,541) - (1,541)

Interest expense 4,361 2 4,363

Effect of modification to lease terms 789 - 789

Lease payments (7,669) (24) (7,693)

Landlord contributions 5,680 - 5,680

At 02 January 2025 106,180 48 106,228

 
*Negative right-of-use asset and lease l iabi l i ties  addition relates  to a  lease in which lease incentives  exceeded present
value of fixed rent payments  resulting in a  negative right-of-use asset. This  materia l ised due to the nature of the lease
agreement in which rent payments  are made up of turnover based rent and quarterly rent. Turnover rent is  excluded from
the present value of lease l iabi l i ties  on recognition of the lease.

 
 

 

02 January
2025

 £'000

28 December
2023

 £'000

Lease liabilities

Current 2,146 2,824

Non-current 104,082 100,414

106,228 103,238

 
Maturity analysis of lease payments

02 January
2025

£'000

28 December
2023

£'000

Contractual  future cash outflows

Land and buildings

Less  than one year 8,413 7,056

Between one and five years 33,910 31,774

Over five years 124,343 119,354

166,666 158,184

Motor Vehicles

Less  than one year 42 24

Between one and five years 9 22

51 46

 
17   Goodwill and intangible assets
The Group is  required to test, on an annual  bas is , whether goodwi l l  has  suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount
is  determined based on value in use calculaJons. The use of this  method requires  the esJmaJon of future cash flows and
the determinaJon of a  discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the cash flows. The Group has  determined
there is  no impairment on goodwi l l  for the period ending 02 January 2025.
 
 

Goodwi l l
£'000

Software
£'000

Total

£'000

Cost

At 29 December 2022 8,951 3,936 12,887

Acquired in the year - 829 829

At 28 December 2023 8,951 4,765 13,716

Acquired in the year - 640 640



At 02 January 2025 8,951 5,405 14,356

Amortisation and impairment

At 29 December 2022 1,599 1,976 3,575

Charge for the year - 753 753

At 28 December 2023 1,599 2,729 4,328

Charge for the year - 781 781

At 02 January 2025 1,599 3,510 5,109

Net book value

At 02 January 2025 7,352 1,895 9,247

At 28 December 2023 7,352 2,036 9,388

At 29 December 2022 7,352 1,960 9,312

 
 

 
AmorJsaJon is  appl ied to write down the carrying value of assets  over expected useful  economic l ives . The esJmated
useful  economic l i fe for intangible assets  i s  3 years , which commences  when the asset i s  avai lable for use.
 
Goodwi l l  i s  a l located to the fol lowing CGUs:
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Baker Street 103 103

Barnet 1,309 1,309

Esher 2,804 2,804

Gerrards  Cross 1,309 1,309

Is l ington 86 86

Muswel l  Hi l l 1,215 1,215

Oxted 102 102

Reigate 113 113

Walton-On-Thames 94 94

Winchester 217 217

7,352 7,352
             

18   Impairment
 
The Company evaluates  assets  for impairment annual ly or when indicators  of impairment exist.
 
The annual  impairment assessment requires  an esJmate of the value in use of each cash-generaJng unit (CGU) to which
goodwi l l , property plant and equipment and right-of-use assets  are a l located, which is  the individual  cinema level . The
recoverable amount of a  CGU is  the higher of value in use and fa ir value less  cost of disposal . The Company determines  the
recoverable amount with reference to i ts  value in use.
 
EsJmaJng the value in use requires  esJmate of the expected future cash flows from each CGU and discount these to their
net present value at a  post-tax discount rate. Forecast cash flows are derived from adjusted EB I TDA generated by each CGU
which is  based on management's  forecast performance. Cash flow forecasts  have been prepared for each CGU by applying
growth assumpJons to key drivers  of cash flows, including admiss ions, average Jcket price, spend per head, direct and
overhead costs .
 
As  required by I AS 36, the company assessed whether there was an indicaJon that a  previous ly recognised impairment no
longer exists  or may have decreased. A reversal  of an impairment loss  should only be recognised i f there has  been a change
in the estimates  used to determine the asset's  recoverable amount s ince the last impairment loss  was  recognised
 
The key assumptions  of this  calculation are shown below:

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Discount rate (post-tax) 11.25% 11%

Long term growth rate 2% 2%

Number of years  projected 5 years 5 years
 
A post-tax WACC was used in the impairment calculation. The equivalent pre-tax WACC was 15% (2023: 14.7%).
 
Adjusted EBITDA used for 2025 is  based on the Board approved budget and represents  the balanced and most l ikely



Adjusted EBITDA used for 2025 is  based on the Board approved budget and represents  the balanced and most l ikely
outcome of future cashflows. In the remaining five-year forecast, the fol lowing assumptions  have been appl ied excepted in
l imited cases  where adjustments  have been made for venue-speci fic factors :
 

·       Admiss ions: 3% l ike-for-l ike increase year-on-year.
·       Average Ticket Price: 3% increase year-on-year.
·       Spend Per Head: 3% increase year-on-year.

 
An impairment charge of £2,626,000 has  been recognised in the period (2023: £724,000) relaJng to four venues, at which
the recoverable amount was  deemed to be lower than the carrying value.
 
The cumulative impairment charges  that have been recognised in previous  periods  have not been reversed and are
summarised in the below table.

28 December Impairment Charge 02 January

2023

£000

2024

£000

2025

£000

Goodwi l l 1,599 - 1,599

Right-of-use 1,032 1,098 2,130

Property, plant &
equipment

1,224 1,528 2,752

Total 3,855 2,626 6,481

 
Sensitivity analysis
 
Impairment reviews are sens itive to changes  in key assumptions. Sens itivi ty analys is  has  been performed by cons idering

incremental
changes  in assumptions  of admiss ion levels  and discount rates .
 
Scenarios
The fol lowing sens itivi ty scenarios  have been appl ied to the cash flow forecasts  for stress  testing purposes:
 

·       Admiss ions  levels  were increased by 3% versus  the base case in each year in the ups ide case, and decreased by
3% versus  the base case in each year in the downside case; and

·       WACC was decreased by 1% versus  the base case in the ups ide case, and increased by 1% versus  the base case in
the downside case.

 
The results  of this  were as  fol lows:

Upside  Number of
venues

Impaired

 Downside Number of
venues

Impaired

£,000   £,000  

Admiss ions  sens itivi ty 1,705 2 6,376 6

WACC sens itivi ty 1,134 2 4,298 5

Combined sens itivi ty 1,134 2 8,402 8

 
 
19 Inventories

 02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Food and beverages 964 858
 
Finished goods recognised as  cost of sales  in the year amounted to £10,969,000 (2023: £9,393,000).
 
20 Trade and other receivables
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Included in current assets 7,386 5,216

Included in non-current assets 333 173

7,719 5,389

 
Trade receivables 2,641 1,565

Other receivables 512 291

Prepayments  and accrued income 4,566 3,533

7,719 5,389
 
There were no receivables  that were cons idered to be impaired. There is  no s igni ficant di fference between the fa ir value of
the other receivables  and the values  stated above. Other debtors  include deposits  paid in respect of long-term leases  and
have been recognised as  non-current assets .



have been recognised as  non-current assets .
 
21   Trade and other payables
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Trade creditors 5,850 3,385
Social  securi ty and other taxation 3,290 3,100
Other creditors 910 523
Accrued expenses 12,318 8,117
Deferred income 5,757 4,330

28,125 19,455
 
22   Loans and borrowings
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Total  Bank Debt 28,000 26,000

Cash (9,883) (6,645)

Net Bank Debt 18,117 19,355
 
Commitment fees  are charged quarterly on any balances  not drawn at 40% of the appl icable rate of drawn funds. The face
value is  deemed to be the carrying value. The Group had drawn down £28 mi l l ion of the £35 mi l l ion debt faci l i ty as  at 02
January 2025 (2023: £26 mi l l ion of the £35 mi l l ion debt faci l i ty).
 
23  Changes in liabilities from financing activities

Non- current
loans  and

borrowings
Lease l iabi l i ties Total

£000 £000 £000

At 28 December 2023 26,000 103,238 129,238

Cash flows 2,000 (2,013) (13)

Non- cash flows:

Interest accruing in period - 4,363 4,363

Lease additions - (149) (149)

Effect of modifications  to lease terms - 789 789

At 02 January 2025 28,000 106,228 134,228

At 29 December 2022 22,000 86,473 108,473

Cash flows 4,000 (2,459) 1,541

Non- cash flows:

Interest accruing in period - 3,409 3,409

Lease additions - 14,740 14,740

Effect of modifications  to lease terms - 1,075 1,075

At 28 December 2023 26,000 103,238 129,238
 
 
24  Financial instruments                                                                                                                  
Investments , financial  assets  and financial  l iabi l i ties , cash and cash equivalents  and other interest-bearing loans  and
borrowings  are measured at amortised cost and the Directors  bel ieve their present value is  a  reasonable approximation to
their fa i r value.
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Financial  assets  measured at amortised cost
Cash and cash equivalents 9,883 6,645
Trade and other receivables 3,153 1,856
Accrued income 963 1,426

13,999 9,927
 
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Financial  l iabi l i ties  measured at amortised cost
Bank borrowings 28,000 26,000
Trade Creditors 5,850 3,385
Leases 106,228 103,238
Other Creditors 910 523
Accrued expenses 12,318 8,117

153,306 141,263
 



 
 
25 Financial risks
 
The Board has  overal l  responsibi l i ty for the determinaJon of the Group's  risk management objecJves  and pol icies . The
overal l  objecJve of the Board is  to set pol icies  that seek to reduce risk as  far as  poss ible without unduly affecJng the
Group's  compeJJveness  and flexibi l i ty. The Group has  not issued or used any financial  instruments  of a  speculaJve
nature and the Group does  not contract derivaJve financial  instruments  such as  forward currency contracts , interest rate
swaps or s imi lar instruments .
 
The Group is  exposed to the fol lowing financial  ri sks :                                 

·       Credit risk                                                                                                                             
·       Liquidity risk                                                                                                                        
·       Interest rate risk                                                                                                                 

                                                                               
To the extent financial  instruments  are not carried at fa i r value in the consol idated Balance Sheet, net book value
approximates  to fa i r value at 02 January 2025 and 28 December 2023.
 
Trade and other receivables  are measured at amorJsed cost. Book values  and expected cash flows are reviewed by the
Board and there have been no impairment losses  recognised on these assets .
 
Cash and cash equivalents  are held in sterl ing and placed on deposit in UK  banks. Trade and other payables  are measured
at book value and held at amortised cost.
 
Credit risk
Credit risk i s  the risk of financial  loss  to the Group i f a  customer or counterparty to a  financial  instrument fa i ls  to meet i ts
contractual  obl igations  and arises  principal ly from the Group's  receivables  from customers  and investment securi ties .  
 
At 02 January 2025 the Group has  trade receivables  of £2,641,000 (2023: £1,565,000).  Trade receivables  arise mainly from
adverJs ing and sponsorship revenue. The Group is  exposed to credit risk in respect of these balances  such that, i f one or
more of the customers  encounters  financial  difficulJes, this  could materia l ly and adversely affect the Group's  financial
results . The Group aPempts  to miJgate credit risk by assess ing the credit raJng of new customers  prior to entering into
contracts  and by entering into contracts  with customers  with agreed credit terms. At 02 January 2025 the Directors  have
recognised expected credit losses  of £Ni l  (2023: £Ni l ) as  credit losses  are assessed as  immateria l .
 
25 Financial risks (continued)
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date by class  of financial  instrument was:

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Ageing of receivables  

<30 days 2,011 1,005

31-60 days 513 322

61-120 days 18 171

>120 days 99 67

2,641 1,565
 
 
I n determining the recoverabi l i ty of trade receivables  the Group cons iders  any change in the credit qual i ty of the trade
receivable from the date credit was  iniJal ly granted up to the reporJng date. Credit risk i s  l imited due to the customer base
being diverse and unrelated. There has  not been any impairment other than exisJng provis ions  in respect of trade
receivables  during the year (2023: £ni l ). There were no materia l  expected credit losses  in the year.
 
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises  from the Group's  management of working capital . I t i s  the risk that the Group wi l l  encounter difficulty
in meeJng i ts  financial  obl igaJons as  they fa l l  due. The Group's  pol icy is  to ensure that i t wi l l  a lways  have sufficient cash
to al low i t to meet i ts  l iabi l iJes  when they become due. To achieve this  a im, i t seeks  to maintain cash balances  to meet i ts
expected cash requirements  as  determined by regular cash flow forecasts  prepared by management.
 
The Group's  forecasts  show sufficient headroom in banking covenants  for the next 12 months.
 
Exposure to liquidity risk
The fol lowing are the remaining contractual  maturiJes  of financial  l iabi l iJes  at the reporJng date. The amounts  shown are
gross , not discounted and include contractual  interest payments  and exclude the impact of netting agreements .
 
 

Contractual  cash flows

2 January 2025 Carrying Less  than Between one Between three Over five

amount one year
and two

years and five years years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Non-derivative financial
liabilities  
Secured bank faci l i ty 28,000 1,595 29,063 - - 30,658

Trade creditors 5,850 5,850 - - - 5,850

Leases 106,228 8,413 8,352 25,558 123,613 165,936

Other creditors 910 910 - - - 910

Accrued expenses 12,318 12,318 - - - 12,318

153,306 29,086 37,415 25,558 123,613 215,672
 
25 Financial risks (continued)

Contractual  cash flows

28 December 2023 Carrying Less  than Between one Between three Over five

amount one year
and two

years and five years years Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000



£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Non-derivative financial
liabilities  
Secured bank faci l i ty 26,000 2,012 2,012 27,341 - 31,365

Trade creditors 3,385 3,385 - - - 3,385

Leases 103,238 7,080 8,146 23,604 119,354 158,184

Other creditors 523 523 - - - 523

Accrued expenses 8,117 8,117 - - - 8,117

141,263 21,117 10,158 50,945 119,354 201,574
 
Interest rate risk                                                                                                 
Interest rate risk arose from the Group's  holding of interest-bearing loans  l inked to SONIA. The Group is  a lso exposed to
interest rate risk in respect of i ts  cash balances  held pending investment in the growth of the Group's  operations. The effect
of interest rate changes  in the Group's  interest-bearing assets  and l iabi l i ties  i s  set out below.
 
In respect of interest-earning financial  assets  and interest-bearing financial  l iabi l i ties , the fol lowing indicates  their
effective interest rates  at the end of the year and the periods  in which they mature:
 

Effective Maturing Maturing Maturing

interest within between 1 to between 2 to

rate 1 year 2 years 5 years

% £000 £000 £000

At 28 December 2023

Bank borrowings* 7.74% 190 - 26,000

Bank current and deposit balances 0.01% 6,597 - -

At 02 January 2025

Bank borrowings* 7.25% 234 - 28,000
Bank current and deposit balances 0.01% 9,883 - -
 
*Bank borrowings  comprises  SONIA of 4.7% (2023: 5.19%) and margin of 2.55% (2023: 2.55%).
 
The fol lowing table demonstrates  the sens itivi ty to a  reasonably plaus ible change in interest rates , with a l l  other variables
held constant, of the Group's  profi t and loss  before tax through the impact on floating rate borrowings  and bank deposits
and cash flows:

Change in 02 January 28 December

rate 2025 2023

% £000 £000

Bank borrowings 0.5% (140) (130)

1.0% (280) (260)

1.5% (420) (390)

Bank current and deposit balances 0.5% 49 33

1.0% 99 66

1.5% 148 99
 
 
Capital  management
               
The Group's  capital  i s  made up of share capital , share premium, merger reserve and retained earnings  total l ing £36.4m
(2023: £44.5m).
 
The Group's  objectives  when maintaining capital  are:

·     To safeguard the enti ty's  abi l i ty to continue as  a  going concern so that i t can continue to provide returns  for
shareholders  and benefi ts  for other stakeholders .

·     To provide an adequate return to shareholders  by pricing products  and services  commensurately with the level  of
risk.

 
The capital  s tructure of the Group cons ists  of shareholders  equity as  set out in the consol idated statement of changes  in
equity. Al l  funding required to set-up new cinema s i tes  and for working capital  purposes  are financed from existing cash
resources  where poss ible. Management wi l l  a lso cons ider future fundrais ing or bank finance where appropriate.
 
 
26  Provisions
 

Leasehold
Di lapidations

£,000

As at 29 December 2022 1,362

Additions 311

Revaluation of net present value (50)

Unwinding of discount 8

As at 28 December 2023 1,631
112



Additions 112

Revaluation of net present value (158)

Unwinding of discount 11

As at 02 January 2025 1,596

 
 

Al l  provis ions  for lease di lapidations  are due after more than five years .
 
Leasehold di lapidations  relate to the estimated cost of returning leasehold property to i ts  original  s tate at the end of the
lease in accordance with lease terms. The cost i s  recognised as  depreciation of leasehold improvements  over the remaining
term of the lease. The main uncertainty relates  to estimating the cost that wi l l  be incurred at the end of the lease term, the
average remaining lease term for leases  held at 02 January 2025 was 17 years  (2023:18 years).
 
27   Deferred tax
                                                                                       

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Deferred tax gross movements

Opening balance 2,805 -

Deferred tax asset recognised in period 1,682 2,805

Clos ing balance 4,487 2,805

 
Recognised in profit and loss  
Aris ing on loss  carried forward (1,658) (4,660)

Net book value in excess  of tax written down value 529 1,805

Amortisation of IFRS accumulated restatement 45 45

Prior year adjustment (468) -

Other temporary di fferences (130) 5

Credit to profi t and loss (1,682) (2,805)

 
 
 
Deferred tax comprises:  
Temporary di fferences  on property, plant and equipment 7,618 7,794

Temporary di fferences  on IFRS 16 accumulated restatement (510) (552)

Avai lable losses (11,719) (10,302)

Other temporary and deductible di fferences 124 255

(4,487) (2,805)
 
 
Deferred tax is  calculated in ful l  on temporary differences  under the l iabi l i ty method us ing the tax rates  that have been
substanJvely enacted for future periods, being 25% from 1 Apri l  2023. The deferred tax l iabi l i ty has  arisen due to the
Jming difference on property, plant and equipment, the deferral  of capital  gains  tax aris ing from the sale of property and
other temporary and deductible di fferences.
 
Deferred tax assets  have been recognised in respect of tax losses  and other temporary differences  giving rise to deferred
tax assets  where the Directors  bel ieve i t i s  probable that they wi l l  be recovered. The Group has  consulted the FRC's  thematic
review of Deferred Tax Assets  publ ished in September 2022 and concluded that an asset should be recognised on the bas is
of a  sufficient level  of probable future taxable profits . The Group has  taken the decis ion to recognise the Deferred Tax Asset
in 2023 and 2024 due to increased certainty over future trading performance.
 
28   Share capital and reserves
 

02 January 28 December

Nominal 2025 2023

value £000 £000

Authorised, issued and fully paid Ordinary shares £0.10

At the start of the year 9,118 9,118

Issued in the year - -

At the end of the year 9,118 9,118

Number of shares 02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Number Number

Authorised, issued and fully paid Ordinary shares

At the start of the year 91,177,969 91,177,969

Issued in the year 2,791 -



Issued in the year 2,791 -

At the end of the year 91,180,760 91,177,969
 
The holders  of O rdinary shares  are enJtled to one vote per share. During the year the Company issued 2,791 O rdinary
shares  (2023: Ni l )
 
Merger reserve
I n accordance with s612 of the Companies  Act, the premium on O rdinary shares  issued in relaJon to acquis iJons is
recorded as  a  merger reserve.
                               
Share premium   
Share premium is  stated net of share issue costs .
 
Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid during the period (2023: £ni l )
 
29  Share-based payment arrangements
 
EMI, Non-Qualifying and LTIP Schemes
 
The Group operates  three equity-sePled share-based remuneraJon schemes for employees. The schemes combine a long
term incenJve scheme, an EM I  scheme and an unapproved scheme for certain senior management, execuJve Directors ,
non-executive Directors  and certain contractors .
 
Al l  equity-settled share options  are measured at fa i r value as  determined through use of the Binomial  technique, at the date
of grant, as ide from those with market-based performance condiJons, which are valued us ing the Monte Carlo model .
During the year, no equity-settled share options  were issued with market-based performance conditions.
 
The fa ir value determined at the grant date of the equity-sePled share-based payments  is  expensed on a straight-l ine bas is
over the vesJng period, based on the Groups esJmate of shares  that wi l l  eventual ly vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market-based vesting conditions.
 
 
29   Share-based payment arrangements (continued)

               Weighted average exercise
price per share in the year

ended

02 January 28 December 02 January 28 December

2025 2023 2025 2023

Pence Pence Number Number

Options  at the beginning of the year 90.4 104.3 7,196,834 6,973,833
Options  issued in the year 10 28.6 1,119,797 1,202,808
Options  exercised in the year 10 - (2,791) -
Option forfei ted in the year 70.4 41.8 (3,172,504) (979,807)

Options  at the end of the year 85.3 90.4 5,141,336 7,196,834
 
The exercise price of options  outstanding at 02 January 2025 ranged between 10.0 pence and 184.0 pence (2023: 10.0
pence and 184.0 pence) and their weighted average contractual  l i fe was  10 years  (2023: 10 years).
 
The weighted average share price (at the date of exercise) of options  exercised during the year was  10.0 pence (2023: n/a)
 
The weighted average fa ir value of each option granted during the year was  49.7p (2023: 63.3p).
 
No options  lapsed beyond their contractual  l i fe in the year (2023: ni l ).
 
The fol lowing informaJon is  relevant in the determinaJon of the fa ir value of opJons granted during the year and equity-
settled share-based remuneration schemes operations  by the Group:
 
 

Option scheme conditions  for options  issued in the year: 02 January 28 December

2025 2023

Option pricing model  used Binomial Binomial

Weighted average share price at grant date (pence) 59.0 82.4

Weighted average option exercise prices  (pence) 10 30.1

Expected volati l i ty 30% 35%

Expected option l i fe (years) 1.7 2.9

Weighted average contractual  l i fe of outstanding share options  (years) 10 10

Risk-free interest rate 4.12% 3.56%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0%

Fair value of options  granted in the year (pence) 49.7 63.3
 
Volati l i ty has  been calculated based on historical  share price movements  of the Company as  at each grant date.
 
The share-based remuneration expense appl icable to key management personnel  was  as  fol lows:
 

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Equity-settled schemes 637 639



Equity-settled schemes 637 639
 
 
29   Share-based payment arrangements (continued)
 
Growth Shares
 
O n 8th Apri l  2021, the Group announced that Alex Scrimgeour, Chief ExecuJve O fficer of Everyman, had been issued
2,000,000 A ordinary shares  ("Growth Shares") in a  subs idiary company, Everyman Media Holdings  Ltd. The Growth Shares
could be exchanged for new O rdinary Shares  in the future, subject to meeJng certain vesJng condiJons and share price
performance cri teria.

Subsequent to this , on 23rd January 2023, the RemuneraJon CommiPee resolved that the share price performance
condiJon aPached to the Growth Shares  was  no longer appropriate. The Company announced that, subject to vesJng
condiJons and financial  performance targets  being met, the Growth Shares  would enJtle Mr. Scrimgeour to receive an
amount equivalent to the market value of an O rdinary Share in the Company less  86.0p, being the clos ing share price of the
Company on 20th January 2023.

O n 18th August 2023, the RemuneraJon CommiPee has  resolved that, due to equity market condiJons, the terms of the
Growth Shares  should be amended so that Mr. Scrimgeour wi l l  now receive an amount equivalent to the market value of an
O rdinary Share less  60.0p, being the clos ing share price of the Company on 17 August 2023. Al l  other terms and condiJons
relation the Growth Shares  remain unchanged.

Detai ls  of the outstanding shares  under the A Growth Share Scheme are as  fol lows:

02 January
Re-stated

28 December

2025 2023

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,000,000 2,000,000

Lapsed in year - -
Outstanding at end of year 2,000,000 2,000,000
 
Growth Shares  that were deemed to have lapsed in 2023 have been re-stated as  outstanding fol lowing legal  advice.

Fol lowing the amendments  to the terms of the A O rdinary Shares  noted above, the Binomial  model  was  used for fa i r valuing
the A Growth Share awards  at the date of modification. The inputs  to the model  were as  fol lows:

A Growth Share Scheme
Target 1 Target 2

Number of shares 1,000,000 1,000,000
Adjusted EB I TDA
Target

£17.2m £19.3m

Expected volati l i ty 30% 30%
Risk free interest
rate

4.82% 4.76%

Option l i fe (years) 5 5
Share price at
valuation date

£0.60 £0.60

 
Share-based payments  charged to the profi t and loss  were as  fol lows:

02 January 28 December

2025 2023

£000 £000

Share options  charge 50 470

Growth shares  charge 544 350
Administrative costs 594 820
The charge for the Company was £ni l  (2023: £ni l ) after recharging subs idiary undertakings  with a  charge of £594,000
(2023: £820,000). The relevant charge is  included within administrative costs .
 
30   Commitments
 
There were capital  commitments  for tangible assets  at 02 January 2025 of £11,950,000 (2023: £14,521,000). The amount of
landlord contributions  committed were £7,015,000 (2023: £7,650,000) which is  not included in the above figure.
 
31   Events after the balance sheet date
 
O n 21 March 2025, the Group purchased the remaining long leasehold interest at i ts  venue at The Everyman Cinema, Great
North Road, New Barnet, Barnet EN5 1AB, for the sum of £1,000,000. The long leasehold runs  unti l  22 December 2032.
 
32   Related party transactions
 
I n the year to 02 January 2025 the Group engaged services  from enJJes related to the Directors  and key management
personnel  of £853,000 (2023: £848,000) compris ing of office rental  of £110,000 (2023: £105,000 ) and venue rental  for
Bristol , Harrogate, StraMord-Upon-Avon and Maida Vale of £743,000 (2023: £743,000 ). There were no other related party
transactions. There are no key management personnel  other than the Directors .
 
The Group's  commitment to leases  is  set out in the above notes. W ithin the total  of £167,000,000 (2023: £158,000,000 ) i s
an amount of £386,000 (2023: £499,000 ) relaJng to office rental , £4,114,000 (2023: £4,319,000) relaJng to StraMord-
Upon-Avon, £2,865,000 (2023: £3,036,000) relaJng to Bristol , £804,000 (2023: £914,000) relaJng to Madia Vale and
£4,115,000 (2023: £4,412,000) relaJng to Harrogate. The landlords  of the s i tes  are enJJes related to the Directors  of the
Company.
 
33   Ultimate controlling party
The Company has  a  diverse shareholding and is  not under the control  of any one person or enti ty.
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